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At a glance

Unique users
per month

Transactions

100,000+

650,000+

2.0+ million unique users annually

Experiencing steady growth

Revenue
per month in USD

Partner merchants

500,000+

150+

USD 6.5+ million annually

across Asia
Our partners are spread over
Indonesia, China, Hong Kong,
Taiwan and South Korea

Number of employees

38
Jakarta office: 20
Seoul office: 4
Zurich office: 3
Global: 11
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Message from our Chairman

Allen Wu, Chairman

Dear Shareholders,

tifaceted payments, entertainment and community plat-

I am proud to present our first annual report following the

form business targeting South-East Asia and India. Progress

listing of Achiko Limited on SIX, the Swiss Stock Exchange,

was perhaps most visible in the mobile wallet platform the

in November 2019.

company created last year, which was subsequently progressed by the MoU that we signed with Hypothekarbank

When I was invited to join the Board of Directors, I did so

Lenzburg AG and in Indonesia with the MoU that we signed

because I saw an enormous opportunity in offering much

with DOKU (formerly known as PT Nusa Satu Inti Artha). In

needed fintech services in markets that have largely been

2020, we expect the company to add a range of synergistic

ignored by some of the world’s largest players in this field.

services to its extensible platform, including payments, con-

Achiko’s current addressable market of South-East Asia and

sumer credit, savings, loans, e-commerce, gaming, commu-

India consists of a population of approximately two billion

nity and chat offerings.

people, many of whom have not used fintech services or
have any relationships with banks.

Achiko is a practical innovator. By that I mean that Achiko
innovates by taking proven solutions and business mod-

This growing, enthusiastic, engaged population of mobile

els from developed markets such as the USA and Europe

internet users is not tethered to computers or tempted by

and then tailoring those solutions to the specific needs of

traditional banking services. Many of them are reluctant or

customers in each of the company’s target markets in Asia.

are too remote to set foot in a traditional bank. As a result,

Achiko differentiates its products for the cultural and taste

Achiko’s suite of products will be the first experience with

preferences of each country and region in which it operates.

fintech services for many of them and perhaps their only

The company does not believe in the ‘one size fits all’ ap-

one. As Achiko continues to build out its extensible and mul-

proach that many internet companies adopt, which gives it

tifaceted platform for payments, entertainment and com-

a strong competitive advantage in successfully responding

munity, those consumers will be able to get the financial

to the important demographic, technological and regula-

and other services they want from a single platform – when-

tory changes happening across Asia. These changes have

ever they need them and wherever they may be.

created an amazing opportunity for Achiko as our extensible
platform allows us to create unique apps and experiences

A year of transformation

for consumers while creating value for our shareholders and

Last year was a transformative year for Achiko. In 2019, in

partners.

addition to working on its payment business, the company
focussed on creating an end-to-end solution that could dis-

Looking ahead

rupt the market by evolving from a largely single-product

Despite the expected headwinds of the coming year, pri-

payments business focussed on Indonesia to a global, mul-

marily as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, I believe that
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Addressable market

Europe addressable market – 600mn
– E-commerce market > USD 621bn in 2019.
– Leverage Switzerland as an innovation
centre for fintech services

Emerging addressable
markets (South Asia,
South-East Asia) – 2bn

– Develop operational template for digital
financial services platform with
Swiss bank (HBL)

Geographical expansion to:
– Thailand

– Subsequent rollout to South-East Asia and
then Europe

– Philippines
– Vietnam
– Myanmar

Prioritisation:
2020
Indonesia addressable market – 260mn

2021 – 2022

– Transformation of Mimopay to AchikoPay
– Rollout of community and e-commerce services

2022 – 2023
Beyond

– Delivery of social app and integrated digital wallet
– E-commerce market in 2019 was > USD 5.8bn.
Broader platform is aiming to capture > 1% of that
market over the next 24 months

2020 will be a seminal year for Achiko. The quality and expe-

I believe that our expected sales success will also result

rience of the management team has enabled us to build a

from our relationships with those business partners, some

more resilient company and to strengthen our foundations.

of which are also shareholders. MNC Group (PT Media Nu-

The company’s strategy aligns with two important trends.

santara Citra Tbk) is South-East Asia’s largest and most in-

The first trend is the emergence of a thriving middle class

tegrated media group and also a significant shareholder in

in our target markets, which has given consumers a larger

Achiko. MNC will be providing airtime and media placement

disposable income and with it a greater need for fintech

in Indonesia for Achiko to promote our products and servic-

services. The second trend is the mass adoption of smart-

es. MNC was already a major shareholder when we listed our

phones, which is increasing demand for leisure services such

shares on SIX Swiss Exchange last year and it is a real vote of

as gaming and social networking as users have moved parts

confidence that MNC has recently elected to invest another

of their lives to the online sphere.

USD 2 million in our company.

Message from our Chairman

Products & services

Enable to Pay

Shop

Places to Be

Community

Things to Do

Merch. Shop

Available now

Loan

Bills

Invest

Donate

Fund Manager

Insurance

Game

Tournament

Streaming

Meetup

Media Partnerships

Forum

Chat

Coming later this year

2021

Your support is key

I am proud to say that in 2020, the potential that I saw

This company would not be where it is today without the

in the beginning of my tenure with Achiko Limited has

determination of our team and the support of our partners,

started to become a reality. I have never been as excited

shareholders and customers. On behalf of the Board of Di-

about the future of this company as I am today. There is

rectors, I would like to thank everyone who has played a part

still plenty of work to be done, but I am proud of what we

in the evolution of this business. As noted earlier, 2019 was a

have achieved and look forward to heading into the future

year of transformation for Achiko – a transformation made

alongside such an exceptional and inspiring team.

possible because of the people who believed in our capability and the management team’s dedication to ensuring that

Allen Wu

the company succeeds.

Non-Executive Chairman
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MESSAGE FROM OUR CEO

Kenneth Ting, CEO

Dear Shareholders,

A unique place to pay, play and stay

When my co-founder, Steven Goh, and I founded Achiko

Our strategy of building Achiko into a multifaceted pay-

Limited in 2018, we saw a global opportunity presented by

ments, entertainment and community platform business

demographic, technological and regulatory changes hap-

involves extending and expanding on the company’s fintech

pening across Asia. The burgeoning middle class in Asia

experience as a games payment gateway to create a unique

now has a growing amount of disposable income and thus

“pay, play and stay” platform.

a need for innovative fintech services to help them better manage their money. Moreover, the mass adoption of

Technology advances and regulatory changes have created

smartphones and the accompanying technological changes

an opportunity for us to provide innovative non-banking fi-

have led to an explosion in demand for leisure services such

nancial services. To monetise our users and add value for our

as gaming and social networking. Yet there is currently no

partners and shareholders, we will offer users many ways to

unified payments, entertainment and community platform

pay for a variety of products and services, both on and off our

in many parts of Asia.

platform. This building process started in 2019 and has continued in Q1 of 2020. Consumer credit, savings and wealth

Achiko intends to become that platform. Recent regulatory

management products will be added in Q2 and Q3 of 2020.

changes in many Asian countries make it possible for fin-

Additionally, Achiko ID, which is a single sign-on registra-

tech companies to provide banking services without having

tion system, will be launched in Q2 of 2020. Achiko ID will

millions of dollars of paid-up capital in reserve. This develop-

allow Achiko users to easily register on partner apps without

ment has given us a clear and promising direction for the

disclosing their Achiko password and allow users to share

future. Over the past year, Achiko has invested considerable

in-app information securely across the Achiko ecosystem.

time and effort in building a versatile payment, entertain-

This integration point will not only make it easy for users to

ment and community platform. This platform is built on a

pay with our platform but also allow our platform to interact

solid foundation of established and secure payment tech-

with partner apps by providing users with reward points and

nologies, an experienced management team, skilled tal-

gifts, leader boards and other gamification opportunities

ent and invaluable strategic relationships. The new Achiko

based on factors such as the users profile and in-app activity.

platform to be launched in 2020 will allow us to serve the
approximately two billion people who reside in South-East

The extensible platform encourages frequent usage, provid-

Asia and India by capitalising on synergistic offerings. Those

ing our users with ways to play and connecting them with

offers will include payments, consumer credit, savings, loans,

compelling applications and experiences that will drive sales

e-commerce, gaming, community and chat services that are

and grow the company’s operating margin.

increasingly vital to the engaged, enthusiastic and growing
number of unbanked and underbanked mobile users who

The maturity in digital services means that consumers are

virtually live online.

now choosing services that have community and social ele-

Message from our CEO

The new Achiko platform

Play

Wallet

Chat

Achiko services

Partner services

ID
Digital Financial
Services Platform

EarlyPay

Partner services
– Buy now, pay later
– Games & e-sports
– Micro-insurance
– Cash withdrawals
– Media and other content

Payment
methods

ACHIKO services
Customer and merchant services including:
– e-commerce
– Bill payments
– Payroll advance
– e-sports

DOKU

– User ID and verification (KYC)

MOX/SOSV
builds strategic partnerships
between its ecosystem of
investee companies which
creates valuable synergies in
South-East Asia and beyond

ments. To scale the platform to millions of users, we will en-

that the cash-constrained Mimopay business acquired in

sure our platform is a highly engaging place that offers uses

2018 was successfully rebranded to AchikoPay in December

many reasons to stay on our platform. The Achiko platform

2019 and provides us with a solid base for growth in 2020.

will be a lively and appealing environment for connecting
with friends, family and community members. Social and

A lot of progress was made in 2019 on securing strate-

gaming features will be added to the platform in Q3 and Q4

gic partnerships and building the software platform. As

of 2020, extending into 2021.

planned, the new products and services that come from
those efforts are expected to be launched in 2020. As a re-

Financial highlights

sult, the financial highlights below largely reflect the results

As highlighted by our Chairman Allen Wu, 2019 was a year of

from the AchikoPay business only.

transformation for Achiko. In the past year, aside from working on improving the game payment business and listing at

The AchikoPay business saw intense price competition in

SIX Swiss Exchange, management focused on evolving the

2019. Based on a comparison of the 2019 revenue as set out

payment platform into a multifaceted platform business.

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

Despite the difficult trading conditions in 2019, I am pleased

comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
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2019 compared to the 2018 revenue as set out in the table

USD 0.59m from USD 0.18m based on the consolidated

for Group revenue and Group profit and loss on a combined

statement of financial position.

basis in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue decreased by

Based on the headline financial results of the AchikoPay

14% to USD 6.47m from USD 7.48m. Due to funding con-

business, it may seem that Achiko has had a somewhat

straints during most of 2019, we were unable to effectively

rocky start as a publicly listed company. However, we have

compete for new business and lost some large and high-

many reasons to be optimistic about the coming year. The

er profit margin customers to better funded competitors

funding restraints we had during most of last year were re-

because they could offer superior payment terms. This re-

solved shortly before the company’s listing on SIX last No-

sulted in a decrease in gross margin on revenue from 8% to

vember. The one-off costs outlined above will, by nature,

4% and gross profit decreased by 50% to USD 0. 29m1 from

not affect this year. Beyond that, we have a host of strong

USD 0.58m2. This and the higher expenses due to transform-

partnerships and future announcements that reflect the

ing the business and becoming listed on SIX also meant

value and promise of our business and the fundamental

that earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) (corresponding

soundness of the company’s new direction.

to loss from operation) decreased by 94% to USD −6.29m3
f rom USD −3.23m4 and net loss after interest and tax

Acquisitions and strategic relationships

(corresponding to loss for the year) increased by 117% in 2019

Strategic relationships will be an important key to our suc-

to USD −6.92m5 from USD −3.18m6.

cess in expanding the capabilities and user base of the
Achiko platform, which has its roots in the Mimopay busi-

Operating expenses increased by 72% to USD 6.58m7 from

ness we acquired in 2018. That acquisition brought us a

USD 3.81m , largely due to the increase in salary cost to sup-

games payment gateway with a broad reach across Indo-

port the transition of the business. There were also signifi-

nesia and strong relationships with several dozen game

cant restructuring and administrative costs related to the

publishers. In June 2018, the company acquired Kryptonite

stock market listing of Achiko in 2019. Further, in 2019, Achiko

Korea Ltd, a South Korean digital technology company with

settled its obligations under a promissory note agreement

deep technical expertise in platform development, social

(see Note 18). If EBIT (corresponding to loss from operation) is

entertainment and blockchain payment technologies. Our

“normalised” by adding back one-off listing and restructuring

Chief Technology Officer, Chunhyuk Chong and several oth-

costs of approximately USD 2.62m and the increase in salaries

er members of the Kryptonite team, for example, were in-

8

of USD 0.78m in 2019, then the EBIT (corresponding to loss

volved in the early development of KakaoTalk, the top social

from operation) before one-off costs and the increase in sal-

media and payments platform in South Korea, which is used

aries is -USD 2.88m. This represents an improvement of 11%.

monthly by approximately 85% of the South Korean population. We expect to launch Achiko’s social network and chat

Our balance sheet strengthened considerably in 2019. Based

platform in 2020. In August 2018, we signed a partnership

on the consolidated statement of financial position, total

agreement with MOX, a mobile-only technology accelerator.

equity improved by 405% to USD 1.90m from -USD 0.63m.

This agreement gives Achiko access to the “best of breed”

Trade creditors and trade payables and other payables re-

app and game investee companies in the MOX portfolio.

mained relatively constant. Cash provided by financing ac-

Partnering with these companies will allow us to ensure our

tivities increased by 144% to USD 7.89m9 from USD 3.23m10

customers have a never-ending stream of new and unique

and cash on hand and in banks increased by 225% to

experiences on the Achiko platform.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

Based on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Based on the table for Group revenue and Group profit and loss on a combined basis in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Based on the table for group revenue and Group profit and loss on a combined basis in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Based on the table for Group revenue and Group profit and loss on a combined basis in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Based on the table for Group revenue and Group profit and loss on a combined basis in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on the consolidated statement of cash flows.
Based on the table for Group cash flow on a combined basis in Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements.

Message from our CEO

With those important acquisitions and agreements in

ships with major telecommunications companies in Indone-

place, Achiko signed a memorandum of understanding in

sia. We have planned a series of marketing activities ranging

November 2019 with Hypothekarbank Lenzburg AG (HBL)

from the consumption of digital inventories of Indonesia’s

to progress the delivery of Achiko’s digital wallet and finan-

top three telecom companies, the creation of exclusive mi-

cial services app in Switzerland. HBL is one of Switzerland’s

crosites, a cross-promotional campaign as well as online and

financial institutions engaged in the ongoing digitalisation

offline activities. In April 2020, we signed a letter of intent

of financial services. As a result of this partnership, Swiss

with Sonect to co-operate and further accelerate our joint

users of the forthcoming Achiko digital wallet will auto-

efforts to deliver state-of-the-art payment solutions for Swit-

matically become HBL customers as well and have a bank

zerland. Sonect’s technology enables any merchant’s cash

account with HBL. This HBL bank account, which will be

register to become a de facto ATM. Thanks to these efforts,

tailored to the Achiko digital wallet, will give users access

Achiko’s customers will be able to make cash withdrawals

to a range of products and services. They will include ac-

from the over 2,300 shops in Switzerland that have part-

cess to currency held in a user’s HBL bank account, digital

nered with Sonect.

commodities, ‘Achiko’ co-branded debit or prepaid cards
offered by HBL, and a variety of payment mechanisms en-

Positioned for success

abling funds to be ‘topped up’ from the HBL account to a

We have done and will continue to do the work necessary

user’s Achiko wallet. Whilst Europe is not our focal mar-

to broaden the scope of our company, which will in turn ex-

ket currently, Switzerland serves as a good testing ground

pand profitability margins and revenue. Moving forward, we

for the products and services that we intend to launch in

have a clear plan for building on the foundations that have

South-East Asia and India, due to its smaller size and ma-

been put in place over 2019. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,

ture banking and fintech sector.

2020 will, without doubt, be a difficult year for Achiko and
the business world as a whole. That said, as the company’s

In December 2019, Achiko signed a memorandum of under-

multifaceted payments, entertainment and community

standing with EmpatKali (PT Empat Kali Indonesia), which

platform business evolves, we expect ever more consumers

will allow Achiko to offer ‘buy now, pay later’ services to its In-

to be attracted to our unique “pay, play and stay” environ-

donesian users. EmpatKali’s technology enables consumers

ment as a safe and engaging place to connect and engage

to buy products and pay for the products later in four equal

with friends and family.

instalments. No interest or other fees are charged to customers, as the transaction fees are borne by merchants. This

As I reflect on the results of the past year, I am immensely

solution is appealing to our overall target market and espe-

proud of our team and grateful for the dedication and col-

cially well-suited to the 85% of Indonesian Muslims who may

lective effort that has been so instrumental in our achieve-

have a reluctance to use financial products which charge in-

ments to date. We were and remain keenly focused on cre-

terest. That same month, Achiko also signed an agreement

ating long-term shareholder value. To our shareholders, I

with DOKU (formerly known as PT Nusa Satu Inti Artha) to

say thank you for your ongoing belief in and support for this

progress the delivery of Achiko’s digital wallet in Indonesia

company. To our business partners, I say thank you for your

by white-labelling the popular DOKU wallet for users of the

enthusiastic and vital participation in this exciting journey.

Achiko platform.

And to the Achiko Board of Directors, management and employees, I say thank you for your tremendous efforts over the

In March 2020, we announced the memorandum of un-

past year to transition the company into the ‘pay, play and

derstanding Achiko signed with Huawei Tech Investment

stay’ platform that our customers both need and deserve.

to drive sales of USD 15m for the year ending 31 December
2020. Achiko is excited to be engaging consumers across

Kenneth Ting

Indonesia together with Huawei through Huawei’s relation-

Chief Executive Officer
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Corporate governance

1. Group structure and shareholders
1.1 Group structure
Achiko Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company with limited liability, incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with its registered address at Anderson Square, 64
Shedden Road, P.O. Box 31325 SMB, Grand Cayman KY1-1206. The Company functions as a
holding company without substantive own operations as its business is conducted through
subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities.
The Achiko group (the “Group”), consists of the following entities:
1. Globimedia Network Pte. Ltd. (“Globimedia”)
Globimedia is incorporated in Singapore, with its registered address at SBF Center
160 Robinson Road #24-09, Singapore
2. Gamespark Interactive Limited (“Gamespark”)
Gamespark is incorporated in Hong Kong, with its registered address at Room 1405, 135
Bonham Strand Trade Centre, Cheung Wan, Hong Kong.
3. PT. Progressivmedia Indonesia (“PTPI”)
PTPI is a so-called “Variable Interest Entity” (VIE)1 incorporated in Indonesia, with its
registered address at Wisma Barito Pacific Tower A 1st Floor, Jl Let Jend S Parman Kav
62 – 63, Jakarta, Indonesia.
4. Kryptonite Korea Co., Ltd. (“Kryptonite”)
Kryptonite is incorporated in South Korea, with its registered address at 3rd Floor, 38-2,
Eunjo-ro 164-gil Gangnam-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea.
For information regarding the composition of the Group, please refer to Notes 1, 2 and 3 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 43–60 of this Annual Report.
The internal organisational structure of the Company is as follows:

1.

The laws and regulations in Indonesia place restrictions on foreign investments in and ownership of entities
engaged in a number of business activities. Therefore, foreign investments can be held via a VIE structure. In
this respect, the Company owns the PTPI business in Indonesia indirectly through contractual agreements.
To this end, the Company has entered into a series of contractual arrangements with PTPI, its shareholders,
which enables the Company to: (i) exercise effective control over PTPI; (ii) receive substantially all of the
economic benefits and absorb losses of PTPI; and (iii) have an exclusive call option to purchase all or part
of the equity interests in and/or assets of PTPI if and when permitted under the relevant laws. Because of
these contractual arrangements, the Company has the control over, and is the primary beneficiary of PTPI.
The current shareholders of PTPI are two of our trusted employees, whom the Company has provided with
loans to acquire shares in PTPI.

Corporate governance

Board of Directors

CEO
Kenneth Ting

COO
Chris Young

Head of
Operations Asia
Windiaprana Ramelan

CFO
Sunil Peter

CTO
Chunhyok Chong

Head of
Operations Europe
Mikko Tirronen

1.2 Significant shareholders
The Company has been listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (ACHI, ISIN: KYG0101M1024) since
8 November 2019.
The below overview sets out the significant shareholdings in accordance with the information
that has been published on the reporting and publication platform of the Disclosure Office of
SIX Swiss Exchange pursuant to Article 120 et seqq. of the Financial Market Infrastructure Act.
Direct shareholder

Ultimate beneficial owner

Shares

Percentage

Heracles Investment Group Limited, Suite No. 3442,
c/o 8 Temasek Boulevard, #35-03 Suntec Tower 3,
Singapore, Singapore

Steven Goh

13,671,612

15.25%

PT Media Nusantara Citra

–

10,000,000

11.16%

Neural Networks Limited, 30 de Castro Street, Wickhams
Cay 1, P.O. Box 4519, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin
Islands

Kenneth Ting

5,500,000

6.14% (plus 3,000,000 options with
an exercise ratio of 1:1, corresponding
to 3.35%)

Swiss Merchant Group AG, Bahnhofplatz, 4th Floor,
CH-6300, Zug, Switzerland

Christian Mantzke Beck

7,000,000

7.81%

Simon Theobald, PwC, Brookfield Place, Level 15,
125 St Gyeorges Terrace, Perth, Western Australia 6000,
Australia and Melissa Humann, PwC, Brookfield Place,
Level 15, 125 St Georges Terrace Perth, Western Australia
6000, Australia, in their function as trustees of the assets of
A.C.N.059 457 279.

–

2,990,676

3.34%

On 26 February 2020, Obotritia Capital KGaA, Potsdam, Germany (ultimate beneficial owner:
Rolf Elgeti), acquired 3,000,000 shares amounting to 3.35%.
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Lock-up agreement
A lock-up agreement has been entered into with the Company and 27 locked-up holders
of shares. The lock-ups last for a period of twelve months from 8 November 2019. In addition, except for 2,000,000 shares, Swiss Merchant Group AG (ultimate beneficiary: Christian
Mantzke Beck) has agreed to lock up all of the other 5,000,000 of its shares under the same
conditions (term of twelve months from 8 November 2019) in a separate agreement with the
Company. The total amount of locked-up holders of shares is therefore 28, of which 23 hold
participations of less than 3%. The total number of locked-up holders of shares is 50,713,955,
corresponding to 56.58% of the voting rights, plus 3,000,000 (3.35%) options as described
above, amounting to a total of 53,713,955 locked-up purchase positions (59.93%).
All disclosures of shareholdings, including as regards to the lock-up group and disclosures
made after the reporting date, are published on the website of the SIX Swiss Exchange Disclosure Office and can be accessed there (https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/
home/publications/significant-shareholders.html).

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings exceeding 5% of the capital shareholdings or voting rights..

2. Capital structure
2.1 Capital
On 31 December 2019 (the “reporting date”), the Company had an issued share capital of
91,382,142 ordinary shares with a par value of USD 0.001 each, of which the amount fully paid
up totals a share capital of USD 89,632.15.

2.2 Authorised and conditional capital
As at the reporting date, the authorised share capital of the Company was USD 500,000, divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of USD 0.001 par value each. There is no conditional
share capital under Cayman Islands corporate law as under Swiss law.
Out of the Company’s authorised share capital, 21,250,000 shares have been reserved to be
issued upon (i) the exercise of options under the Company’s stock option plan (13,000,000
shares), (ii) the conversion of a convertible note (6,500,000 shares) and (iii) shares subscribed
and to be issued upon payment of the subscription price (1,750,000 shares).
For more information regarding the Company’s stock option plan and the convertible note,
please refer to section 2.7 Convertible bonds and options on page 15–17 of this report.

2.3 Changes in capital
On its incorporation, the authorised share capital of the Company was USD 100,000, divided
into 100,000,000 ordinary shares of USD 0.001 par value each.

Corporate governance

On 25 September 2018, the Company – by ordinary resolution of its shareholders – increased
its authorised share capital from USD 100,000 to USD 500,000, divided into 500,000,000
ordinary shares of USD 0.001 par value each.
Upon listing its shares on the SIX Swiss Exchange on 8 November 2019 (the “Listing”), the
share capital of the Company amounted to 91,382,142 ordinary shares (see also sections 2.1
Capital and 2.2 Authorised and conditional capital on page 14 of this report).
Other than the above, there have not been any changes in the share capital of the Company
over the last three financial years.

2.4 Shares and participation certificates
The Company has only one class of shares (registered shares) with a par value of USD 0.001
per share. Each share carries one vote and equal dividend rights, with no special privileges.
The Company has not issued any participation or profit sharing certificates.

2.5 Dividend-right certificates
The Company has not issued any dividend-right certificates.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
Shares in the Company are not subject to any restrictions on transfer.
Nominees are also entered in the share register.

2.7 Convertible bonds and options
Convertible note
On 10 July 2019, the Company entered into a convertible note subscription agreement (governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands) with Mr Prasan Sirinnont, to invest USD 4.5 million,
40 business days after the date of the listing approval and notes convert at a price of USD 0.70
per share after 180 days of the issue, provided Listing would occur before 31 December 2019.
Upon conversion of the convertible note, Mr Sirinnont’s interest amounts to 6,500,000 shares,
which is equal to 7.25% of the issued share capital. The convertible note is not transferrable
without the consent of the Company and no interest is payable in respect of this note.

Employee stock option plan (“ESOP”)
As of 31 December 2019, the Company had 14,610,000 options outstanding under the ESOP,
entitling its holders to acquire up to 14,610,000 shares in the Company.
The Company has granted 11,885,000 options to employees of the Group. Each option is exercisable to purchase one share (subscription ratio: 1:1). Of these options, 2,432,863 options
have vested, whilst the remaining 9,452,137 options are unvested.
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Once vested, the options can be exercised at any time during the exercise period. If all
options were exercised, a total number of 11,885,000 shares would be issued, the capital
contribution reserves would increase by USD 5,307,615 and the share capital by USD 11,885,
equalling 13.26% of the share capital and voting rights based on the share capital of the Company registered in the commercial register of the Cayman Islands as of 31 December 2019.
The vesting date, exercise period and strike price of these options are detailed below:
The vesting date, exercise period and strike price of these options are detailed below:
– 2,800,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 21 August 2028 and a strike price of  USD 0.075;
– 1,500,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 21 August 2028 and a strike price of  USD 0.70;
– 1,175,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 14 May 2029 and a strike price of  USD 0.70;
– 500,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 31 May 2029 and a strike price of  USD 0.70;
– 2,000,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 7 November 2029 and a strike price of  USD 0.075; and
– 3,910,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 30 November 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.70.
The Company has granted 2,725,000 options to persons providing consultancy, advisory and
other services to the Company in connection with business development activities. Each
option is exercisable to purchase one share (subscription ratio: 1:1). Of these options, 608,279
options have vested, whilst the remaining 2,116,721 options are unvested. Once vested, the
options can be exercised at any time during the exercise period. If all options were exercised,
a total number of 2,725,000 shares would be issued, the capital contribution reserves would
increase by USD 420,400 and the share capital by USD 2,725, equalling 3.04% of the share
capital and voting rights based on the share capital of the Company registered in the commercial register of the Cayman Islands as of 31 December 2019.
The exercise prices, vesting date, exercise period and strike price of these options are detailed below:
– 1,375,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 21 August 2028 and a strike price of USD 0.075;
– 500,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 1 May 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.075;
– 250,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 1 May 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.70;
– 500,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 7 November 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.075; and
– 100,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 30 November 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.70.
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Assuming that all options granted under the ESOP are exercised, the aggregate number
of shares issuable upon exercise of the options amounts to 16.30% of the share capital and
voting rights of the Company registered in the commercial register of the Cayman Islands
as of 31 December 2019.
As at the reporting date, the Company had no outstanding bonds or other instruments than
those set out above.

3. Board of Directors
3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
Name

Place of origin/
nationality

Place of residence

Year of appointment

Year of birth

Position

Allen Wu Yao Bian

USA

Laos

2019

1963

Chairman

Steven Goh

Australia

Australia

2019

1967

Member, member of the
Risk and Audit Committee

John Bing-Tsung Lin

USA

China

2018

1976

Member

Christophe Laurent

France

Switzerland

2018

1969

Member, member of the
Risk and Audit Committee

The members of the Board of Directors may be contacted at the business address of the
Company.
The biographical details of the members of the Board of Directors are set out below. These
include information on their activities and commitments in addition to their functions at
the Company.
Allen Wu, Chairman of the Board of Directors, is an American citizen and currently
resides in Vientiane, Laos.
Allen is a serial entrepreneur with diverse industry experience across the medical,
pharmaceutical, cosmetic, direct sales, mining, infrastructure, energy, power, real
estate, media, financial services, aviation and tourism industries. Allen is the founder
and chairman of China Regent Holdings Limited, a family investment holding company. He
is also the co-founder of CamCan Energy, an oil and gas concession on 12,000 km2 in Lao
PDR and the CEO of Camergy Co. Ltd., a joint venture with Oknha Lim Bunsour (ing-holdings.com) in Cambodia. Furthermore, Allen is Chairman and President of Regent Blockchain Group Ltd. (RBG) in the Philippines. Allen is also CEO of BZG Asia Investment LLC,
in a joint venture with H.H. Sheikh Khaled bin Zayed Al Nahyan of Zin Zayed Group (BZG).
Allen holds a double Bachelor of Arts degree in World Economics and International Cultural
Exchange and a Master of Arts degree in International Relations from the International University of Japan Graduate School.
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Steven Goh, Member of the Board of Directors, is an Australian citizen and currently
resides in Perth, Australia.
Steven is a serial entrepreneur. He has founded/co-founded three companies that
were leaders in financial services and social networking. Migme (2006) was an early
leader in mobile and social networking and with a reach to tens of millions of feature
phone users. Sanford Securities (1995) was Australia’s first online stockbroker and was a leader
in online financial services in Australia and was recognised globally. Over the past 25 years,
he has had the honour of working with top tier venture capitalists in Silicon Valley and across
Asia, with meaningful strategics (including some of the largest companies in the world),
dozens of incubators and hundreds of other start-ups, stock exchanges, investment banks.
During this time, he has developed extensive experience in developing and commercialising compelling internet services for social, consumers and finance. He has
worked professionally in chartered accounting, stockbroking and investment banking and in consulting to a wide range of financial institutions in Australia, Asia and Europe. He also maintains an avid interest in a range of computing languages and systems architecture. As a consequence of his professional experience, he has also been
involved in a few hundred capital issues and transactions for over USD 1 billion, including raising over USD 100 million for companies that he himself has founded and led.
Steven has won numerous professional and business awards. He has extensive private and
public board experience, is a frequent speaker at conferences in Silicon Valley, Europe, Asia
and Australia and has appeared in the Wall St Journal, Australian Financial Review, CNBC,
Financial Times, the Economist, Bloomberg and many others.

John Bing-Tsung Lin, Member of the Board of Directors, is a US citizen and currently
resides in Hong Kong, China..
John Bing-Tsung Lin is a Member of the Board of Directors. He also serves as a
director and managing director of PlayStudios Asia Limited, the Asian operation
of PlayStudios Inc and as a developer and operator of the myVEGAS franchise of
social casino games. From 2014 to 2015, he also served as a managing director for Asian
development by PlayStudios Inc (USA). He has been engaged in the development and
marketing of games across social, online and integrated resort formats in Asia, Europe
and the United States since 2002. Prior to PlayStudios, he was a senior development executive in the land-based casino sector for Las Vegas Sands (NYSE:LVS) and Boyd Gaming
(NYSE:BYD), he has led greenfield development, legislative and regulatory initiatives, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, as well as the design and development of integrated casino
resorts from Macau, Singapore and the UK to regional US markets and the Las Vegas Strip.
John Bing-Tsung Lin holds a Master’s degree in Real Estate Development from Columbia
University and a bachelor degree in architecture from the University of California Berkeley.
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Christophe Laurent, Member of the Board of Directors, is a French citizen, born in
1969 and currently resides in Switzerland.
Christophe Laurent is a Member of the Board of Directors. He has decades of experience in international business across enterprise sales, strategic and operational marketing and corporate fundraising. Christophe was most recently Fintech
Lead at Kickstart, a Switzerland-based open innovation programme, which he joined after his tenure as CMO and having raised funds for a Fintech start-up, which focused on
growing digital banking and financial inclusion in various parts of the world, after he spent
a year at Google studying the impact of digitalisation in multiple areas. Prior to that he
held various senior, marketing and business development related positions in England,
the USA, Liechtenstein and Switzerland, working for listed companies such as General
Electric and Oerlikon, but also smaller companies, all leaders in their field. He founded
his first start-up more than ten years ago and has worked in two more in the meantime.
Christophe Laurent holds a Master’s degrees in International Management and European
Marketing Strategy from the University of Savoy and the Staffordshire Business School.
Christophe is based in Zurich, Switzerland..

3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Other than as described above, the members of the Board of Directors do not engage in any
other activities or perform any other functions which are significant to the Group.

3.3 Rules in the Articles of Association on the number of
permitted activities pursuant to Article 12 para. 1 point 1
Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed
Stock Companies
Not applicable.

3.4 Elections and terms of office
The Board of Directors has the power at any time, and from time to time, to appoint a person
as an additional director or persons as additional directors and shall have the power to elect
one of their number to be the chairman for such period as they determine and the Company
may also by ordinary resolution of shareholders appoint additional directors from time to
time. A resolution of the Company’s general meeting of shareholders to appoint a director
may be passed by a simple majority of the votes cast.
Pursuant to Article 86 of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.
com/articles-of-association-110419/), a member of the Board of Directors shall hold office
for such term commencing on the date of his or her appointment by ordinary resolution of
shareholders or resolution of directors and ending on the date of the next annual general
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meeting of shareholders at which the director shall resign (or upon premature death, resignation or removal). A director shall be eligible for re‐appointment.
The shareholders may, by ordinary resolution, remove a director at any time and may by ordinary resolution, appoint another person in his or her place. A resolution to remove a director
can be passed by a simple majority of the votes cast.
If no chairman is elected, or if at any meeting the chairman is not present within five minutes
after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the directors present may choose one of
their number to be chairman of the meeting.

3.5 Internal organisational structure
Subject to the provisions of the Cayman Islands companies law (2018 revision) (the “Cayman
Companies Law”), the Articles of Association and to any resolutions made in a general meeting of shareholders, the business of the Company is managed by the Board of Directors, who
may pay all expenses incurred in setting up and registering the Company and may exercise
all powers of the Company. No resolution made by the Company in a general meeting of
shareholders shall invalidate any prior act of the members of the Board of Directors which
would have been valid if that resolution had not been made. The Board of Directors may
furthermore exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or
charge its undertaking, property and uncalled capital or any part thereof and to issue debentures, debenture stock, mortgages, bonds and other such securities whether outright or as
security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party.
Moreover, the Board of Directors can from time to time appoint any person, whether or not
a director, to hold such office in the Company as the Board of Directors may think necessary
for the administration of the Company, including but not limited to, the office of president,
one or more vice-presidents, treasurer, assistant treasurer, manager or controller, and for
such term, and with such powers and duties as the Board of Directors may think fit.
The Board of Directors may also appoint one or more of their number to the office of managing director upon like terms, but any such appointment shall ipso facto determine if any
managing director ceases from any cause to be a director, or if the Company by ordinary
resolution of shareholders resolves that his tenure of office be terminated.
The Board of Directors is quorate if two members of the Board of Directors are present and
pass resolutions with the majority of votes cast. In case of a tie vote, the chairman has a second or casting vote.
Pursuant to Article 103 of Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.com/
articles-of-association-110419/), a director shall be given no less than three days’ notice of
meetings of directors, but a meeting of directors held without three days’ notice having been
given to all directors shall be valid if all the directors entitled to vote at the meeting who do
not attend waive notice of the meeting, and for this purpose the presence of a director at
a meeting shall constitute a waiver by that director. The inadvertent failure to give notice
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of a meeting to a director, or the fact that a director has not received the notice, does not
invalidate the meeting. Further, a resolution signed by all the directors shall be as valid and
effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the directors duly called and constituted.
Any such resolution may consist of several documents in the like form signed by one or more
of the directors and if the counterparts bear different dates, then the resolution shall take
effect on the date upon which the last director has consented to the resolution by signed
counterparts.
The Board of Directors may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of such
member or members of their body as they think fit; any committee so formed shall in the
exercise of the powers so delegated conform to any regulations that may be imposed on it
by the Board of Directors.

Risk and Audit Committee
The members of the Risk and Audit Committee are appointed by the Board of Directors for
a term of office of up to one year ending at the next general meeting of shareholders. The
Risk and Audit Committee consists of at least one member of the Board of Directors. The
members of the Risk and Audit Committee as at the reporting date and as at the date of
this publication are Steven Goh and Christophe Laurent. The chairperson is Steven Goh (for
their respective biographies, refer to section 3.1 Members of the Board of Directors on page
17–19 of this report).
The Risk and Audit Committee has the following general duties and competencies:
– assisting the Board of Directors in fulfilling its duties of supervision of management in
organising the accounting, financial control and financial planning;
– reviewing the annual and interim financial statements of the Company and the
Company Group and recommend to the Board of Directors whether the annual
financial statements should be proposed to the shareholders for approval;
– reviewing external and internal audit plans and results and monitoring corrective
measures implemented by management;
– setting the guidelines for the Company’s risk management system and internal control
system and reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and the
internal control system;
– reviewing the Company’s compliance with financial laws, regulations and reporting
requirements;
– appointing, retaining, terminating and determining the compensation of the Company’s external auditors engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or
performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company;
– checking the independence of external auditors as part of the appointment and retention process as well as the absence of any conflicts of interest; authorising permitted
non-audit services and checking that external auditors do not perform any services
which are not permitted under any of the listing or other rules which the Company is
subject to;
– overseeing the work of external auditors (including the resolution of disagreements
between management and external auditors regarding financial reporting) engaged
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for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review
or attest services for the Company;
– pre-approving any non-auditing services (including the compensation for these) to be
performed for the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries by the external auditors;
– proposing new auditors, if necessary, to the Board of Directors for election by
shareholders;
– establishing procedures for (1) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints
received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or
auditing matters and (2) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the
Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters;
– reviewing and reassessing periodically the adequacy of the procedures established
pursuant to paragraph above and adopting any changes to such procedures that the
Committee deems necessary or appropriate;
– engaging independent counsel and such other advisors it deems necessary or
advisable to carry out its responsibilities and powers and if such counsel or other
advisors are engaged, determining the compensation or fees payable to such counsel
or other advisors;
– incurring such ordinary administrative expenses as necessary or appropriate in carrying
out its duties;
– performing such other financial matters as assigned by statutory law, the Articles of
Association or the Board of Directors and advising the Board of Directors on such other
financial matters; and
– reviewing at least once annually the internal regulations of the Company and
recommending any proposed changes to the Board of Directors.
For the performance of its duties, the Risk and Audit Committee is at all times authorised to
inspect the books and records of the Company and the Group (including internal and external audit reports, management responses and follow-ups) as well as to request information
from any meetings with all management bodies and employees of the Company as well as
its internal and external auditors. The Committee may invite external or internal auditors to
attend its meetings.

3.6 Definition of areas of responsibility
The Board of Directors oversees the affairs of the Company and has the authority to delegate
any powers to a director or committee. Under Cayman law, the board members can delegate
any or all of their powers to one or more directors, officers, committees (whether or not such
committees comprise persons other than directors or officers) or service providers. However,
delegation by the board members of their powers does not relieve them of their duties to the
Company and each board member remains ultimately responsible for exercising supervision
and control over the acts of any such delegates.
Although there is no codification of directors’ duties under Cayman Islands law, the Cayman Companies Law contains numerous provisions relating to the obligations of the board
members and prescribes penalties for breaches of those obligations. The key positive obligations of board members include, in addition to overseeing the affairs of the Company,
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maintaining the books of account, minutes of meetings, the statutory registers of members,
beneficial ownership, mortgages and changes of directors (including alternate directors)
and providing information or access to documents to specified persons as required by the
Cayman Companies Law.

3.7 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the Executive
Committee
The board meetings are the Board of Directors’ main platform to supervise and control
management. Over the reporting year, eleven board meetings have taken place. At these
meetings, the CEO, the COO and the CFO report on the financial, commercial and business
development activities within their particular focus and the main risks of the Company related to its key value drivers, respective measures taken and related strategic proposals.2 To
this end, the recurring agenda includes, amongst other things, risk areas, growth strategies,
employees, customers and marketing and partnering activities. To the extent required, the
heads of the various geographical markets were occasionally invited and present to provide
market-specific updates and answer any questions posed by the Board of Directors following
their review of the developments in connection with the relevant geographical market. By
way of procedure, minutes of the board meetings are prepared to set out the relevant decisions taken by the Board of Directors and are approved at each subsequent board meeting.

4. Executive Committee
4.1 Members of the Executive Committee
In accordance with the Articles of Association and subject to those affairs which lie within
the responsibility of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors has delegated the operational management to the Group’s executive management team (“Management”), which is
headed by the CEO (as defined below). The Management serves the CEO as a coordination
body for decision making with regard to making proposals to the Board of Directors and the
implementation of strategies and decisions of the Board of Directors or the CEO.
The management consists of the following persons:
– Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”);
– Chief Financial Officer (“CFO");
– Chief Technology Officer (“CTO”);
– Head of Operations Asia;
– General Manager Indonesia; and
– Vice President of Corporate Development.

2. As of 2020, weekly board calls have taken place to discuss the same matters. The uptake in the frequency of
meetings is primarily due to the speed at which the Company is currently aiming to grow and develop itself.
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Members of management
As at the reporting date, management comprises the following individuals:
Name

Place of origin / nationality

Joined management in

Year of birth

Position

Kenneth Ting

Australia

2018

1972

CEO

Sunil Peter

Singapore

2019

1966

CFO

Chunhyok Chong

Republic of Korea

2018

1973

CTO

Christopher Young

Australia

2019

1963

COO

Windiaprana Ramelan

Indonesia

2018

1970

Head of Operations Asia

Kiki Rizki

Indonesia

2019

1973

General Manager Indonesia

Shannon Sung Chang*

United States

2018

1990

Vice President of

* Ms. Chang resigned from her position within the Company as of 28 February 2020.

The members of management may be contacted at the business address of the Company.
The biographical details of the members of management are set out below. This includes information on their activities and commitments in addition to their functions at the Company.

Kenneth Ting, CEO, is an Australian citizen and currently resides in Australia and
Malaysia.
Mr. Ting is the CEO of the Company. He has a background in accounting, law
and investment banking with extensive experience in the commercialisation of
technology, raising capital and M&A. He joined Deutsche Bank in 1997 after working for four years in PricewaterhouseCoopers’ corporate finance and tax division. He
was a vice president of technology investment banking at Deutsche Bank and worked
in Deutsche Bank’s Sydney, San Francisco and London offices, where he was involved
in over USD 5 billion of capital raising and M&A transactions globally. Mr. Ting has a passion for technology and has worked with technology companies throughout his career.
In 2002, he founded Baycall Pty Limited, an e-commerce and telecommunications company, which later became Australia’s largest online international phone card retailer.
From 2009 to 2017, Mr. Ting held the office of Executive Director, Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer of ASX-listed company, TZ Limited, which is an early stage Internet of
Things company. During his tenure, revenue increased significantly as a result of Mr. Ting’s
efforts in securing and negotiating multi-million dollar sales, distribution and licensing
contracts with organisations such as Apple, Google, Nike, UPS, Singapore Post, Ricoh and
Mercedes Benz, for TZ’s IOT hardware and software products. Mr. Ting holds a Bachelor of
Commerce from Flinders University and Bachelor of Law with Honours from Adelaide University and is an Australian Chartered Accountant.
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Sunil Peter, CFO, is a Singapore citizen and resides in Singapore.
Mr. Peter is the CFO of the Company. He comes with over 30 years of work experience covering Singapore, the United Arab Emirates, India, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh,
Myanmar and Vietnam. Prior to joining the Company, he was working as a Senior
VP – Finance with MySquar Limited, a former AIMS-listed company, overseeing their
financial operations covering five entities in the Group spread over multiple locations. He
was also the CEO of the Singapore Indian Chamber of Commerce and Industry and prior to
that, he was the VP – Finance & Operations, India for Raffles Education Corporation Limited
(REC), a company listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange. At REC, he managed operations
at multiple locations in India, Sri Lanka and Bangladesh. Before this, he was the CFO of a
medical device company at Bio-Scaffold International Limited (BSI). Prior to joining BSI, he
was with Merlin MD Pte Ltd, a medical start-up company, where he was the first employee. Working with the founders, he established the finance, HR and operational guidelines
for the organisation. Before coming to Singapore, he worked in Dubai as a chief accountant for a group of three companies under one management team in the field of air cargo,
printing & advertising and health care. He began his working career in India working for a
shared service organisation (IMBO) after completing his articleship with two audit firms.
Mr. Peter has been involved in various M&A projects, business evaluations and their
subsequent due diligence processes. He has worked for start-ups as well as established organisations automating work processes, where required, to tighten f inancial controls. He has the exposure of working in a cross border, multi-currency and multi-cultural environment. He is currently a director of Bishan
Home for the Intellectually Disabled and Rock Management Services Pte Ltd.
Mr. Peter is a qualified Chartered Accountant with a bachelor’s degree in commerce.

Chunhyok Chong, CTO, is a Korean citizen and currently resides in Seoul, Korea.
Mr. Chong acts as CTO of the Company. He has extensive experience in engineering social applications for major industry players, such as Time Warner for
its Cartoon Network and Samsung for its Galaxy devices. Early in his career, he
worked as a software developer for Lycos Inc., as an engineer for Softmax, as a chief
technology officer for Grigon Entertainment and as a chief technology officer for Gamera
Networks (later Gamera Korea). Mr. Chong was also a software developer at SK Telecom
for the music-streaming service Melon, which was later spun out from SK Telecom and
re-named Loen Entertainment. Melon rapidly became Korea’s market-leading application
for Loen Entertainment. Publicly listed Kakao Group later acquired Loen Entertainment.
After Mr. Chong’s success with Melon, he developed the e-commerce blockbuster service
WeMakePrice, becoming South Korea’s highest turnover e-commerce and advertising portal shortly after going live. Subsequently, he launched South Korea’s social media platform
Wonderpeople, which after integrating into the e-commerce group portfolio, rapidly gained
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a user base greater than 10% of South Korea’s entire population, and acted as its chief technology officer. It has since increased its user base to over 10 million subscribers in South Korea – home to 51 million citizens. After his departure from Wonderpeople, Mr. Chong created
Kryptonite and currently acts as its chief executive officer. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
aerospace engineering from Konkuk University, Korea.

Christopher Young, COO, is an Australian citizen and currently resides in Zurich,
Switzerland.
Christopher Young acts as COO of the Company. He is an executive in financial services, investment banking and wealth management and has extensive experience in the f ield of core banking, f ront-to-back trading, risk management and global regulatory initiatives. Furthermore, Christopher is a certif ied
Project Management Professional (PMP), Scrum Master and Agile/DevOps Coach.
Since June 2017, he has been the XSCALE Steward for Switzerland and in December
2017, he founded the Swiss Agile Association, of which he has since been a president.
His previous experience includes senior management and consulting positions for a
number of leading financial organisations within Switzerland, Australia and the UK.
Christopher Young has an executive MBA from the Australian Graduate School of Management (2008). He obtained his bachelor’s degree of applied science and computer science
in 1994 at RMIT University.

Windiaprana Ramelan, Head of Operations Asia, is an Indonesian citizen and currently resides in Jakarta, Indonesia.
Windiaprana Ramelan acts as Head of Operations Asia for the Company. He specialises in building teams for new businesses and restructuring internal operations. He
has extensive experience in leading multicultural teams in the information & communication technology (ICT) industry, utilising his 15 years of IT consulting experience with sales
and business development skills. He has a proven track record transforming start-ups, such
as Zingmobile (ASX: ZMG), into a leader in the industry and integrating the MVAS division of
Linktone (NASDAQ: LTON) with MNC (IDX: MNCN) to become a top three player in the industry. He currently also acts as a Chairman of the British Institute in Indonesia. From 2005 to
2017, Mr. Ramelan worked as a managing director of migme Indonesia, hipwee.com, UniSadhuGuna International Education, as a director of Linktone Indonesia, as a chief commercial
officer of Synergia Mobile, as a vice president of value added services for Media Nusantara Citra (the largest media group in Indonesia) and as a country manager for ZingMobile Indonesia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in computer engineering from the Gunadarma University, Indonesia and a master’s degree in engineering science, telecommunication and networking
from Curtin University of Technology, Western Australia.
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Kiki Rizki, General Manager Indonesia, is an Indonesian citizen and currently resides
in Jakarta, Indonesia.
Kiki Rizki acts as General Manager Indonesia for the Company and is a respected
marketing leader with proven experience in the fields of marketing, digital, advertising, community development, public relations, events and management. She
played a key role in launching, leading and executing long-term marketing and digital strategies for Grab across all verticals (GrabTaxi, GrabBike, GrabCar, GrabExpress and GrabFood) in
Indonesia; managing and increasing the community base of migme; launching MTV Indonesia 24-hour channels; launching the many styles of Levi Strauss in Indonesia and many more.
She has a deep understanding and knowledge of the Indonesian mass, youth and digital markets, having worked in advertising, marketing and the digital industry for more than 25 years.
Kiki has obtained her bachelor’s degree of arts in journalism at the California State University,
Fresno, California.

Shannon Sung Chang*, Vice President of Corporate Development, is a US citizen
and currently resides in San Francisco, California, United States of America.
Shannon Sung Chang serves as the Vice President of Corporate Development
for the Company. Her main activities involve driving sales growth of subsidiaries,
developing new business opportunities and finding new companies and products
to acquire that have relevant synergies with the Company’s core business. Since September
2017 she has also acted as an advisor at Lootcakes, advising the chief executive officer and
founding team on partnership opportunities with AAA gaming companies. Ms. Chang holds
a Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell University (Ithaca, New York).
* As of 28 February 2020, Ms. Chang has resigned from her function within the Company

4.2 Other activities and vested interests
The members of management do not carry out any significant activities outside the Group
other than those specified above.

4.3 Rules in the Articles of Association on the number of
permitted activities pursuant to Article 12 para. 1 point 1
Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed
Stock Companies
Not applicable.

4.4 Management contracts
None of the companies within the Group nor the Company itself has concluded any management contracts with any third parties.
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5. Compensation, shareholdings and loans
5.1 
Content and method of determining the compensation and
the shareholding programmes
Background
As a newly publicly listed company, the Company is currently in the process of drafting its
internal policy with respect to compensation, which will – amongst other things – include
the formation of a separate compensation committee. This committee will be responsible
for preparing the proposals addressed to the Board of Directors with respect to compensation matters. Furthermore, the compensation principles for the Board of Directors and
management, which are to be formally adopted as part of the internal compensation policy,
will primarily focus on striking a desired balance between sustainable value creation on the
one hand, whilst optimising the Company’s profitability on the other.

Board of Directors
As of its formation, the Company has primarily been funded by outside investors. In this regard, the determination of compensation to the Board of Directors and Management has
been (highly) subject to shareholders’ influence and approval, which remained to be the
case as at the reporting date.
Subject to approval by an ordinary resolution of shareholders, the members of the Board
of Directors receive a fixed basic fee and fixed fees for memberships of committees of the
Board of Directors as well as compensation for expenses that are determined by the full
Board of Directors and are subject to and within the limits of the aggregate amounts approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders. The compensation is awarded in cash and
may also be awarded in the form of shares in the Company. In exceptional cases and subject
to and within the limits of the approval by the annual shareholders’ meeting, the members
of the Board of Directors may be awarded an additional bonus.

Compensation in USD of the Board of Directors of Achiko Ltd. for the twelve months ending
31 December 2019

Board member

Function

Board Fee

Additional fee3

Other stock-based
compensation

Total compensation

Allen Wu

Board member

16,000.00

NIL

NIL

16,000.00

NIL

300,000.00

NIL

300,000.00

Board member, Risk & Audit
Steven Wern-Yi Goh

Committee Chairman
Board member, Risk & Audit

Christophe Laurent

Committee member

30,600.00

NIL

108,630.19

139,230.19

John Bing-Tsung Lin

Board member

32,903.00

NIL

166,666.67

199,569.67

3. Additional fees relate to services other than board duties rendered to the Company for USD 20,000 p.m.
from October 2018 to December 2019.
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Management
Subject to approval by an ordinary resolution of shareholders, the compensation of the
members of management (see under section 4 Members of the Executive Committee
on page 23–27 of this report) shall consist of a fixed and, optionally, a variable component.
The amount of the variable remuneration (if any) paid to management would depend on
the qualitative and quantitative targets and parameters defined by the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors would define and assess the targets and their achievement. Variable remuneration may be paid in cash or in the form of equity instruments, conversion or
option rights or other rights to equity instruments. In addition, members of management
may receive reimbursement for expenses, which are not deemed part of management’s
compensation.
Compensation in USD of the executive management of Achiko Ltd. for the twelve months
ending 31 December 2019

Board member

Function

Base salary4

Annual
incentive

Additional
fees5

Stock based
compensation

Other
compensation6

Total
compensation

Kenneth Ting

CEO

232,920.00

NIL

NIL

1,370,974.00

NIL

1,603,894.00

Michael Anthony Parker

CFO

30,000.00

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

30,000.00

Sunil Peter

CFO

113,696.00

NIL

NIL

NIL

7,659.50

121,355.50

COO

110,000.00

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

118,470.00

Christopher Young

7

Shareholding programmes
The Company relies to a significant degree on the quality and commitment of its management and its employees. In order to combine short- and long-term incentive elements, the
ESOP (see under section 2.7 Convertible bonds and options on page 15–17 of this report) has
been designed to cater for a balanced approach in this respect.
Other than the ESOP, the Company has no share programmes in place.

5.2 R
 ules in the Articles of Association on compensation
(see the Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation
in Listed Stock Companies)
Not applicable.

5.3 R
 emuneration report (see Swiss Ordinance against
Excessive Compensation in Listed Stock Companies)
For the relevant disclosures on pay of the members of the Board of Directors and Management, please be referred to section 5.1 Content and method of determining the compensation and the shareholding programmes on page 28 of this report.

4. Base salary does not include social security costs.
5. Additional fees include fees paid for special services rendered to the Company by Steven Goh for USD
20,000 p.m. from October 2018 to December 2019.
6. Other compensation includes pension contributions and employer social charges paid by the Company.
7. Christopher Young has been paid out in CHF.
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6. Shareholders’ participation rights
6.1 Voting rights restrictions and representation
Each share of the Company carries one vote at a general meeting of shareholders (the
“Shareholders’ Meeting”). Voting rights may be exercised by shareholders registered in the
Company’s share register or by a duly appointed proxy of a registered shareholder or nominee, which proxy may not be a shareholder of the Company up to a specific qualifying day
designated by the Board of Directors. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing
under the hand of an appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly
authorised. A proxy cannot be a shareholder of the Company.
The Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/) provide the following restrictions regarding voting rights:
– Article 72 (No Right to Vote Where Sums Overdue on Shares): a shareholder shall not
be entitled to vote at any Shareholders’ Meeting unless all calls or other sums presently
payable by him have been paid.
– Article 70 (Joint Ownership): where shares are jointly owned, if two or more joint owners
are present in person or by proxy at meetings of shareholders, they must vote as one.
There are no express provisions in the Articles of Association or under the Cayman Companies Law granting any exceptions.
There are no disclosure requirements under the Articles of Association or under Cayman
Companies Law on restrictions to voting rights and rules on granting exceptions for institutional proxies.
In order to remove Article 72 of the Articles of Association (see above), the Articles of Association would need to be amended pursuant to article 146 (Amendment to the Articles) of
the Articles of Association by a special resolution of shareholders (i.e. a majority of no less
than two-thirds of shareholders entitled to vote in accordance with section 60 of the Cayman Companies Law).
The Cayman Companies Law furthermore provides default provisions if the articles of association of a Cayman Islands company are silent as to voting/participation at general meetings. This is not the case with respect to the Articles of Association (accessible via https://
investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/), which provide for the following rules in
this respect:
– Article 66 (Voting): in any Shareholders’ Meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the
meeting shall be decided on a show of hands (i.e., every shareholder present in person
or by proxy shall have one vote), unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result
of the show of hands) demanded by one or more shareholders present in person or by
proxy entitled to vote, and unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the chairman
that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried, or carried unanimously, or by a
particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the book of the proceedings of
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the Company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or
proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution.
– Article 73 (Votes on a Poll): on a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy.
Every shareholder who is entitled to vote at a Shareholders’ Meeting and every person
representing such a shareholder as proxy shall have one vote for each share of which
such shareholder or the shareholder represented by the proxy is the holder.
– Article 74 (Proxy): the instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the
hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor
is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly
authorised. A proxy need not be a shareholder. The form of a proxy may be in any usual
or common form or as the directors may approve.
– Article 77 (Written Resolutions): resolutions of shareholders may also be passed in
writing signed by all shareholders.

6.2 Quorums required by the Articles of Association
In accordance with Article 60 (Quorum) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://
investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/), the quorum at the Shareholders’ Meeting requires two shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote upon the
business to be transacted.
Article 134 (Auditors) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.
com/articles-of-association-110419/) provides that the Company may appoint auditors but
shall not be required to do so and, if the Company appoints auditors, its accounts shall be
audited in such manner as may be determined from time to time by a special resolution of
shareholders (i.e. a majority of not less than two-thirds of shareholders entitled to vote) or
failing such determination by the directors). In this respect, there is no requirement under
the Cayman Companies Law for the accounts to be audited in a manner determined by a
special resolution of shareholders.

6.3 Convocation of the general meeting of shareholders
The Cayman Companies Law provides default provisions if the articles of association of a
Cayman Islands company are silent as to the convening of general meetings.
The Articles of Association provide for the following rules in this respect:
– Article 54 (Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings) of the Articles of Association
(accessible via https://investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/): the directors
may, whenever they think fit, convene Shareholders’ Meetings at such times and in
such manner and places within or outside the Cayman Islands as the directors consider
necessary or desirable provided that once in every year the Board of Directors shall
convene an annual Shareholders’ Meeting.
– Article 55 (Members Convene) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://
investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/): the Shareholders’ Meetings can also
be convened on the written requisition of any shareholder(s) entitled to attend and vote
at Shareholders’ Meetings who hold no less than 10 percent of the paid up voting share
capital of the Company.
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– Article 56 (No Directors) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.
achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/): if at any time there are no directors, any two
shareholders (or if there is only one shareholder then that shareholder) entitled to vote
at Shareholders’ Meetings may convene a Shareholders’ Meeting in the same manner
as nearly as possible as that in which meetings may be convened by the directors.

6.4 Inclusion of items on the agenda
Article 57 (Notice) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.com/
articles-of-association-110419/) provides that at least twenty days’ notice of a Shareholders’
Meeting be given, excluding the day service is deemed to take place but including the day
of such meeting specifying the place, the day and the hour of the Shareholders’ Meeting
and, in case of special business, the general nature of that business..
In addition, Article 58 (Special Business) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://
investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/) provides that all business carried out at
a Shareholders' Meeting shall be deemed special with the exception of  
i. sanctioning a dividend;
ii. the consideration of the accounts, balance sheets and any report of the directors or of
the auditors; and  
iii. the fixing of the remuneration of the auditors.
No special business shall be transacted at any Shareholders’ Meeting without the consent
of all shareholders entitled to receive notice of that meeting unless notice of such special
business has been given in the notice convening that meeting.

6.5 Entries in the share register
Article 51 (Record Date Determination) of the Articles of Association (accessible via https://
investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/) provides that for the purpose of determining those shareholders that are entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at any meeting of shareholders or any adjournment thereof, the directors may provide that the register
of members be closed for transfers for a stated period which shall not exceed 45 days. If the
register of members shall be so closed for the purpose of determining those shareholders
that are entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at a meeting of shareholders, the register
of members shall be so closed for at least ten days immediately preceding such meeting
and the record date for such determination shall be the date of the closure of the register
of members.
Article 52 (Alternate Record Date Determination) of the Articles of Association (accessible
via https://investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/) provides that in lieu of or apart
from closing the register of members, the directors may fix in advance a date as the record
date for any such determination of those shareholders that are entitled to receive notice of,
attend or vote at a meeting of the shareholders.
If neither Article 51 nor Article 52 has been invoked, Article 53 (No Record Date Chosen) of
the Articles of Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.com/articles-of-associa-
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tion-110419/) provides that if the register of members is not closed and no record date is
fixed for the determination of those shareholders entitled to receive notice of, attend or
vote at a meeting of shareholders, the date on which notice of the meeting is posted shall
be the record date for such determination of shareholders. When a determination of those
shareholders that are entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at a meeting of shareholders has been made as provided in (this) Article 53, such determination shall apply to any
adjournment thereof.
There are no rules that allow for any exceptions to the above.

7 Changes of control and defence measures
7.1 Duty to make an offer
There are no opting-up or opting-out clauses in the Articles of Association within the meaning of Articles 125 and 135 of the Swiss Financial Market Instructure Act..

7.2 Clauses on changes of control
Under the ESOP, in the event of a change of control, all options held by a participant shall
accelerate and immediately vest and the participant shall have the right to exercise his option whether or not the vesting requirements set forth in the option agreement have been
satisfied. A change of control event is described as an event which, under applicable law or
listing rules, (i) triggers a mandatory offer or (ii) is the launch of any offer for such number of
shares of the Company, by which the offeror together with any shares otherwise directly or
indirectly held by the offeror and anyone acting in concert with the offeror, would exceed
the mandatory offer threshold under Swiss law (if applicable) of 33.33% of all issued shares of
the company, provided, that following such offer period (Angebotsfrist) (not including the
additional acceptance period – Nachfrist) such offer becomes or is declared, subject only
to conditions subsequent (auflösende oder anderweitig überdauernde Bedingungen) (if
any), unconditional.
For more information regarding the ESOP, please refer to section 2.7 Convertible bonds and
options on page 15–17 of this report.

8 Auditors
8.1 
Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead
The statutory auditors of the Company are, and have since its incorporation been, BDO
Indonesia (“BDO”), Prudential Tower Lt. 17, Jalan Jenderal Sudirman Kav. 79, Setia Budi,
Setiabudi, RT.2/RW.2, Kuningan, Setia Budi, Kota Jakarta Selatan, Daerah Khusus Ibukota
Jakarta 12910, Indonesia.
Under Cayman law, there is no statutory obligation to rotate the lead auditor after a certain
time period and the Company engages BDO on a yearly basis.
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8.2 Auditing fees
The fees paid to BDO during the reporting year in connection with the mandate as statutory
auditor of the Company amounted to USD 98,000 (excluding VAT).

8.3 Additional fees
In connection with the Listing, PT Grant Thornton Consulting Services Jakarta Indonesia
reviewed the accounts prepared in conformity with IFRS for 30 June 2019. For this service,
USD 8,300 (excluding VAT) was charged. Furthermore, Grant Thornton Australia Ltd. (Sydney) was engaged for the purpose of preparing an independent valuation report of the
Company as required for the listing. The fees paid in this respect amounted to USD 132,307
(excluding VAT).

8.4 Information instruments pertaining to the external audit
The Risk and Audit Committee assesses the efficacy, performance, fee and independence
of the auditors (see also under section 4 Executive Committee on page 23–27 of this report).
The Board of Directors does not carry out any further assessment without cause. In particular,
the annual financial statements, the management letter and the comprehensive report to
the Board of Directors are discussed between the Risk and Audit Committee and the auditors. The CFO prepares these matters in conjunction with the auditors for discussion by
the Risk and Audit Committee and approval by the Board of Directors and implements the
recommended improvements. As regards non-audit services, care is taken to ensure that
no mandates are placed with BDO that could result in a conflict of interest with the auditing
mandate or impair its independence. There were no meetings held by the Risk and Audit
Committee during the reporting year. The first meeting of the Risk and Audit Committee
meeting was held on 10 February 2020. Likewise, no formal board meetings with the external auditors have taken place during the reporting year. Given travel restrictions in the first
quarter of 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, all meetings between the Board of Directors
and the external auditors took place by way of video calls.

9 Information policy
The Company releases its annual financial results in the form of an annual report. The annual report is published electronically within four months of the reporting date. In addition,
the results for the first half of each financial year are released in electronic form within three
months following 30 June each year.
The Company’s annual report and half-year results will be announced via press releases and
the media. Investors receive all information in accordance with article 138 of the Articles of
Association (accessible via https://investor.achiko.com/articles-of-association-110419/). Any
written notice or document is announced to the shareholders or beneficial owners registered in person, by facsimile, by e-mail or by post or a recognised courier service to the service
address on file in the share register.
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The Company’s annual and interim reports are available at: https://investor.achiko.com/
financials/.
The Company’s agenda is available at: https://investor.achiko.com/events/.
Copies of all information and documents pertaining to press releases can be viewed and
downloaded from the Company’s website at https://investor.achiko.com/news/.
Interested parties and persons may also subscribe to the Company’s e-mail announcement
alert service via the same page.
The Company additionally provides investor updates, analyst presentations , stock information, recent investor presentations and the Company’s contact information on the investor
relations section of its website at https://investor.achiko.com/. This information may also be
requested directly by investors (e-mail: ir@achiko.com).
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We are a platform
company.
We provide many
ways to pay, play
and reasons to stay
on our platform.
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Financial Report 2019
Achiko limited and its subsidiaries
consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019
and independent Auditor’s report
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Consolidated statement of financial position
31 December 2019

Assets
Non-current assets
Notes

2019

2018

Property and equipment – net

10

19,923

27,748

Intangible assets – net

11

–

7,437

4, 12

1,559,540

1,559,540

8

96,837

122,155

14

100,000

–

in USD

Goodwill
Deferred tax assets – net
Other receivables
Rental deposit

15,547

2,450

1,791,847

1,719,330

13

816,816

854,498

66,167

34,235

Trade and other receivables

14

1,609,823

579,508

Cash on hand and in banks

15

593,157

182,523

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Prepaid expenses and advances
Prepaid tax

Total current assets

3,085,963

1,650,764

TOTAL ASSETS

4,877,810

3,370,094
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Consolidated statement of financial position
31 December 2019

Liabilities and equity
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the company
in USD

Notes

2019

2018

Share capital

20

91,382

76,356

Share premium

20

11,220,522

3,149,424

Other reserves

20

Accumulated losses
Total equity attributable to owners of the company
Non-controlling interest

1,371,718

31,656

(10,774,111)

(3,882,927)

1,909,511

(625,491)

–

–

1,909,511

(625,491)

3, 19

24,575

54,575

Total Equity

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Post-employment benefit liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

16

2,451,871

2,224,945

Accrued expenses

17

473,799

198,888

Borrowing from third party

18

–

1,500,000

18,054

17,177

Tax payable
Total current liabilities

2,943,724

3,941,010

Total liabilities

2,968,299

3,995,585

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

4,877,810

3,370,094
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2019 and for the period 25 May 2018 to 31 December 2018
in USD

Revenue

Notes

2019
(One year)

2018
(Seven months)

5

6,467,312

3,124,342

(6,177,902)

(3,759,170)

289,410

(634,828)

Cost of revenue
GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)

Operating expenses
Marketing and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

(299,733)

(70,823)

6

(5,807,132)

(1,764,519)

(244,782)

(189,387)

7

(224,828)

(1,290,243)

(6,287,065)

(3,949,800)

(617,500)

(25,000)

(6,904,565)

(3,974,800)

(19,329)

(74,368)

(6,923,894)

(3,900,432)

19

43,613

23,340

8

(10,903)

(5,835)

8,618

7,224

Research and product development expenses
Other operating expenses – net
Loss from operations
Interest expense

18

Loss before tax
Income tax benefit (expense)

8

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities
Related tax on remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange gain arising from translation of foreign operations
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

41,328

24,729

(6,882,566)

(3,875,703)

Owners of the Company

(6,923,894)

(3,900,432)

Non-controlling interest

–

–

(6,923,894)

(3,900,432)

(6,882,566)

(3,875,703)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year attributable to:

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company

9

–

–

(6,882,566)

(3,875,703)

(0.08)

(0.08)
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and for the period 25 May 2018 to
31 December 2018
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent company
Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Accumulated
losses

Total

Non-controlling interest

Total equity

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

76,356

3,149,424

–

–

3,225,780

–

3,225,780

employees

–

–

24,432

–

24,432

–

24,432

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(3,900,432)

(3,900,432)

–

(3,900,432)

–

–

7,224

17,505

24,729

–

24,729

76,356

3,149,424

31,656

(3,882,927)

(625,491)

–

(625,491)

12,401

7,876,848

–

–

7,889,249

–

7,889,249

–

–

1,528,319

–

1,528,319

–

1,528,319

2,625

194,250

(196,875)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(6,923,894)

(6,923,894)

–

(6,923,894)

–

–

8,618

32,710

41,328

–

41,328

91,382

11,220,522

1,371,718

(10,774,111)

1,909,511

–

1,909,511

in USD

Notes

Balance as of
inception date
Issuance of share
capital

20

Share options to

Other comprehensive
income
Balance as of
31 December 2018
Issuance of
share capital
Share options to
employees
Exercise of vested
shares
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive
income
Balance as of
31 December 2019
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and for the period 25 May 2018
to 31 December 2018
in USD

Notes

2019
(One year)

2018
(Seven months)

5,306,997

3,208,591

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to employees
Cash paid to suppliers and others
NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(2,096,313)

(618,586)

(10,680,618)

(2,391,702)

(7,469,934)

198,303

Cash flows from investing activity
Acquisition of property and equipment
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

10

(2,447)

(2,355)

4

–

(566,525)

(2,447)

(568,880)

Cash provided by financing activity
Issuance of share capital
Net increase in cash on hand and in banks
Effect of exchange rate changes in cash on hand and in banks

7,889,249

551,172

416,868

180,595

(6,234)

1,928

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

182,523

–

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT END OF YEAR

593,157

182,523
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Notes to consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019

1. General Information
Achiko Limited (the Company) is a public listed company established on 25 May 2018 and
whose shares are traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
In 2018, the Company concluded several acquisitions, including: (i) acquisition of the Mimopay payment platform through various legal entities – Gamespark Interactive Limited (“GP”),
Globimedia Network Pte. Ltd. (“GMN") and PT Progressivmedia Indonesia (“PTPI”); and (ii)
acquisition of Kryptonite Korea Co., Ltd. (“KN”).
Achiko Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group) provide secure payment solutions for game
publishers and application developers to accept various payment methods for any digital
contents and goods through the Mimopay brand.
The Company’s address is at Anderson Square Building, 64 Shedden Road, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands.
The composition of the Company’s Board of Directors as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 is
as follows:
2019

2018

Director

John Bing-Tsung Lin

Michael Anthony Parker

Director

Christophe Laurent

Kenneth Hua Ing Ting

Director

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

John Bing-Tsung Lin

Director

Allen Yaobian Wu

Christophe Laurent

As of 31 December 2019, information on the subsidiaries which are included into the Group’s
consolidated financial statements is as follows:
Subsidiary

Country

Year of
commercial operation

Hong Kong

2016

Gamespark Interactive
Limited (GP)

Singapore

2016

platform services

100.00%

17,517

platform services

100.00%

584,583

0.00%

717,349

100.00%

39,479

Digital payment
Indonesia

2011

Kryptonite Korea
Co., Ltd. (KN)

Total assets
before elimination

Digital payment

PT Progressivmedia
Indonesia (PTPI)

Percentage of
direct ownership

Digital payment

Globimedia Network
Pte. Ltd. (GMN)

Main business
activity

platform services
Game software

South Korea

–

developer
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
A.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost method,
except for certain accounts which are measured on the bases as described in the related
accounting policies.
The consolidated financial statements, except for the consolidated statement of cash flows,
are prepared under the accrual basis of accounting. The consolidated statement of cash
flows is prepared using the direct method, with classification of cash flows into operating,
investing and financing activities.
The functional and presentation currency used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the United States Dollar (USD).

Reclassification of prior year presentation
Certain amounts reported in the prior year in the consolidated statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income have been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations.

B. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS
EFFECTIVE FROM 1 JANUARY 2019
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2019,
which do not result in any substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and had
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:
i. IFRS 16 “Leases”
Effective 1 January 2019, IFRS 16 has replaced IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.
IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring the recognition of assets
and liabilities for all leases, together with options to exclude leases where the lease
term is twelve months or less, or where the underlying asset is of low value. IFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting in IAS 17, with the distinction
between operating leases and finance leases being retained.
ii. IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”
IFRIC 23 provides guidance on the accounting for current and deferred tax liabilities
and assets in circumstances in which there is uncertainty over income tax treatments.
The interpretation requires:
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– The Group to determine whether uncertain tax treatments should be considered
separately, or together as a group, based on which approach provides better
predictions of the resolution;
– The Group to determine if it is probable that the tax authorities will accept the
uncertain tax treatment; and
– If it is not probable that the uncertain tax treatment will be accepted, the Group is
to measure the tax uncertainty based on the most likely amount or expected value,
depending on whichever method better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.
This measurement is required to be based on the assumption that each of the
tax authorities will examine amounts they have a right to examine and have full
knowledge of all related information when making those examinations.
Other new and amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB that will apply
for the first time in the next annual consolidated financial statements are not expected to
impact the Group as they are either not relevant to the Group’s activities or require accounting which is consistent with the Group’s current accounting policies.

C. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
There are a number of standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have
been issued by the IASB that are effective in future accounting periods that the Group has
decided not to adopt early. The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2020:
i. Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting
The revised conceptual framework introduces new concepts on measurement,
presentation and disclosure, derecognition and has updated the definition of assets
and liability, and derecognition criteria for assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements. The revised framework also introduces clarification on prudence,
stewardship, measurement uncertainty and substance over form.
ii. IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors (Amendment – Definition of Material)”
The amendments clarify the criteria used to determine whether liabilities are classified
as current or non- current. These amendments clarify that the current or non-current
classification is based on whether an entity has a right at the end of the reporting
period to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period. The amendments also clarify that ʻsettlement’ includes the transfer of cash,
goods, services, or equity instruments unless the obligation to transfer equity instruments arises from a conversion feature classified as an equity instrument separately
from the liability component of a compound financial instrument. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
iii. IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendment – Definition of Business)
The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify the minimum requirements to be a business,
remove the assessment of a market participant’s ability to replace missing elements
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and narrow the definition of outputs. The amendments also add guidance to assess
whether an acquired process is substantive and add illustrative examples. An optional
fair value concentration test is introduced which permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not expect any other standards issued by the IASB, but not yet effective, to have a material impact on the Group.

D.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities which the Group has control. Control exists when the Group has
power over the subsidiary, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the subsidiary, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
subsidiary. A subsidiary is consolidated from the acquisition date, being the date when the
Group obtains control.
De-facto control exists in situations where the Company has the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In
determining whether de-facto control exists, the Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances including:
– The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to both the size and dispersion of other
parties who hold voting rights;
– Substantive potential voting rights held by the Company and by other parties;
– Other contractual arrangements; and
– Historic patterns in voting attendance.
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the loss of
control is recognised directly in equity.
If the Group ceases to control of a subsidiary, the Group shall, on the date of loss of control:
– derecognise the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at its
carrying amount;
– derecognise the carrying amount of any NCI;
– recognise the fair value of the consideration received and distribution of shares (if any);
– recognise the fair value of any investment retained;
– reclassify the Group’s portion of the components that were previously recognised in
other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate; and
– recognise any resulting difference as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the
Company.

Non-controlling interest
A non-controlling interest (NCI) is a portion of subsidiary’s equity which is not directly attributable to the Company. An NCI is presented in the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position, separate from the equity section attributable to the Company.
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The profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income of the subsidiary is
allocated between the Company and NCI based on their relative interest in the subsidiary,
even if this results in a deficit balance for the NCI.

Transactions eliminated in consolidation
All assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses relating to transactions between entities
of the Group, including unrealised profit or losses that are recognised in assets and resulting
from intra-group transactions, are fully eliminated.

E.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollar (USD), which is
also the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the respective functional currencies of the
entity at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate at the
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Consolidation of foreign subsidiaries
All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the USD
are translated using the closing rates at the date of the consolidated statement of financial
position. Income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date
of transactions.
Translation differences resulting from the application of this method are classified under
other comprehensive income until the disposal of the subsidiary. At the date of disposal, the
cumulated translation differences in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit
or loss.
Goodwill, assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries
with a functional currency other than the USD are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the functional currency and translated at the exchange rate at the acquisition date. These balances are translated at subsequent balance sheet dates at the relevant
exchange rate.

F.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities are measured initially at their fair values at acquisition date. For each
individual business combination, the Group elects to recognise NCI in the acquiree on the
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acquisition date, at the NCI’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Other components of NCI are measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by IFRS. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which
the costs are incurred and the services are received.
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of the NCI in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities, is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the fair value of the total
consideration transferred is lower than the identifiable net assets, the difference is recognised as gain on the bargain purchase immediately in profit or loss on the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

G.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
1. A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
i.

has control or joint control over the Group;

ii.

has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or parent of the Group.
2. An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
i.

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

ii.

the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the Group is a member);

iii. the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
iv. the entity which is a joint venture of the Group and other entity which is an
associate of the Group;
v.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

vi. the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1);
vii. a person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity, (or parent of the entity);
viii. the entity, or a member of a group to which the entity is part of the Group, provides
services to the key management personnel of the Group or to the parent entity of
the Group.
All significant transactions and balances with related parties are disclosed in the notes to
consolidated financial statements.

H.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets include cash on hand and in banks and trade and other receivables.
Financial liabilities include trade and other payables and accrued expenses.

Financial report

Initial recognition and measurement – financial assets
Financial instruments are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial instrument at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial instrument. Transaction costs of a
financial instrument carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
Trade receivables are measured at the amount which the Group is expected to receive in
exchange for the goods or services transferred to a customer (excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties) if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component at initial recognition.

Subsequent measurement – financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under
IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and
its contractual cash flow characteristics. The Group considers whether the contractual cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest that are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility
that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial assets are classified and measured at FVTPL.
i. Amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
ii. Debt investments at FVOC
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value
of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income. Impairment
losses, foreign exchange gains and losses, and interest calculated using the effective
interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from OCI to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.
iii. Equity investments at FVOCI
On initial recognition of an investment in equity instrument that is not held for
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trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
in OCI. Dividends from such investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established. Any gains or losses on equity
investments at FVOCI are never reclassified to profit or loss.
iv. FVTPL
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVTPL. Any gain or loss on financial instruments subsequently measured at FVTPL is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
As of 31 December 2019, the Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost.

Initial recognition and measurement – financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit
or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and
through the amortisation process.
As of 31 December 2019, the Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised cost.
Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset are transferred, or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. The
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt
instruments is recognised in profit or loss.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position, when and only when the Group currently has a legally en-
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forceable right to offset the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

I.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next twelve months (a twelvemonth ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the
internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Group considers that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

J.

PREPAID EXPENSES

Prepaid expenses are amortised over their beneficial periods using the straight-line method.

K.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are initially recorded at cost which includes the purchase price,
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borrowing costs, and other costs directly attributable to bring the asset to the present location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the
management. Subsequent expenses are included in the cost of an asset or recognised as a
separate asset only when it is probable that the Group will obtain future economic benefits
associated with the assets and acquisition cost of assets can be measured reliably. Cost of
maintenance and repairs that do not meet the recognition criteria is recognised directly in
profit or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group uses a cost model in which property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses (if any).
Depreciation of property and equipment, which comprise of furniture and office equipment,
is computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of 4−8 years.
The estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation method of property and equipment are reviewed at each year end, with any changes accounted for as changes in accounting estimates which are recognised on a prospective basis.
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset, accounted for as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal
and the carrying amount of property and equipment, is recognised in profit or loss in the
year when the asset is derecognised.

L.

INTANGIBLE ASSET

At initial recognition, an intangible asset is measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,
an intangible asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. The useful life of intangible asset is assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
An intangible asset with an indefinite life is not amortised. Instead, this is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the intangible asset may be impaired.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Deferred development costs arising from development expenditures on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when
the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditures during the development.
Subsequent to initial recognition of deferred development costs as an intangible asset, it
is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation of the intangible asset begins when development is complete and the asset is
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available for use. Deferred development costs have a finite useful life and are amortised over
the period of expected sales from the related project on a straight-line basis.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is initially measured at its cost, which is the
excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.
After initial recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised.

M.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-financial assets are subject to impairment whenever management assesses that events
or changes in circumstance indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If
such an indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset.
The recoverable amount for an individual asset is the higher amount between the fair value
less costs to sell and its value-in-use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, an impairment test is carried out on the cash-generating
unit (CGU) – the smallest group of assets to which the asset belongs for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows.
In determining fair value less costs to sell, the Group takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use, or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group may use appropriate valuation techniques to determine the fair value of the asset.
In assessing value-in-use, the estimated net future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss.
An assessment is made each reporting period to determine if there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.
The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset will not exceed the recoverable or carrying amount, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such a reversal is recognised in profit or loss. After reversal, the future depreciation
of assets is adjusted to allocate the revised carrying amount of assets using the systematic
basis throughout the remaining useful lives.
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Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually irrespective of whether there is any indication
of impairment.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each CGU that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree were assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is not larger than an operating segment.

N.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES

In providing post-employment benefit liabilities to its employees, the Group participates in
the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. The calculation of post-employment benefit liabilities is based on the projected unit
credit method.
The amount recognised as post-employment benefit liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation.
Service costs are recognised in profit or loss and include current and past service costs as
well as gains and losses on curtailments.
Net interest expense is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the
balance of the net defined benefit obligation, considering the effects of contributions and
benefit payments during the period.
Remeasurements of the defined benefit obligation are recognised directly within equity.
The remeasurements include:
– actuarial gains and losses;
– returns on plan assets (excluding interest); and
– any asset ceiling effects (excluding interest).
Settlements of defined benefit obligations are recognised in the period in which the settlement occurs.

O.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE ISSUANCE EXPENSES

Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against
share capital.

P.

SHARE PREMIUM

Share premium includes the difference between the excess of paid-up share capital made
by shareholders over its par value of the Company’s shares.
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Q.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group grants additional benefits to the employees of the Group in the form of share
options. The cost of these equity- settled share-based payment transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which the options
are granted, which takes into account market conditions and non-vesting conditions. The
cost is recognised directly in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee
share option reserve, over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each
reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for the period represents the movement in the cumulative
employee share option reserve.
The employee share option reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon expiry of the
share option.

R.

REVENUE AND EXPENSE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control
of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over
time. The amount of revenue recognised pertains to the portion of satisfied performance
obligation.
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.
Expenses are recognised when incurred on an accrual basis.

S.

TAXATION

i. Current income tax
The current tax (liability), pertaining to the amount of the expected refund from (or
payable to) the tax authorities, is calculated on the basis of tax law applicable at the
consolidated statement of financial position date, in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income.
Current income tax is recognised on taxable income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year, unless it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income directly in equity. In this case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive or
directly in equity.
ii. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount for reporting
purposes at the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences only to the extent
that it is probably that future taxable profit is available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at each end of the reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax assets to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax law
applicable at the consolidated statement of financial position date.
Deferred tax is recognised on taxable income in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year except to the extent that the tax
relates to transactions recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive
income or charged directly in equity).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities can be offset if, and only if, there is a legally enforceable right to offset the current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

T.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of issued and fully-paid
shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated when the Company has instruments which are
potentially dilutive ordinary shares. Anti-dilutive shares are excluded from basic and dilutive
earnings (loss) per share calculations.

U.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are presented consistently with the internal reporting prepared by segment managers to the operational decision maker. Operating segments are independently
managed by the respective manager who is responsible for the performance of respective
operating segment under their charge, while the operating decision maker is the person
who regularly reviews the segment result in order to allocate resources to the segment and
to assess the segment performance.
The Company’s operation has reflected all the operating segment information. Accordingly,
the Company did not present the segment information in a separate note.
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3. Significant accounting estimation and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of income, expenses,
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period. Judgments and estimates used in preparing the consolidated financial statements are
reviewed periodically based on historical experience and various factors, including expectations and events in the future that may occur. However, actual results may differ from these
estimates. The uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that required a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities affected
in the future period.

JUDGMENTS MADE IN THE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following judgments are made by management in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies which have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

Determination of functional currency
the Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies
of the Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities
in the Group, judgment is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales
prices for goods and services and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations
mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional currencies of
the entities in the Group are determined based on management’s assessment of the economic environment in which the entities operate and the entities’ process of determining
sales prices.

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than majority of
voting rights – PTPI
The Group considers that it controls PTPI even though it does not have voting rights. This
is because the Group has control over PTPI from the Director representatives of the Group
with a share ownership of 100%. From the acquisition date of PTPI on 22 October 2018, there
is no history of other shareholders collaborating to use their votes collectively or to outvote
the Group.
The following are the key terms of the agreements that were signed amongst the Group and
the Director representatives shareholders:
i. Loan agreements
In order to ensure that PTPI shareholders are able to provide capital to PTPI, the
Company has entered into loan agreements with each PTPI shareholders (Note 4).
Pursuant to the loan agreements, the Company has granted loans to the shareholders
that may only be used for the purpose of acquiring equity interest in, or contributing
to the registered capital of PTPI. The loans may be repaid only by transferring all of the
shareholders’ equity interests in the PTPI to the Company or their respective designee
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upon exercise of the option under the call option agreements. The loan agreements
also prohibit the PTPI shareholders from assigning or transferring to any third party, or
from creating or causing any security interest to be created on, any part of their equity
interests in these entities.
ii. Call option agreements
In order to ensure that the Company is able to acquire all of the equity interest in the
agreement at its discretion, the Company has entered into call option agreements
with the respective PTPI shareholders. Each option is exercisable by the Company
at any time, provided that doing so is not prohibited by law. The exercise price under
each option is the minimum amount required by law and any proceeds obtained by
the respective PTPI shareholders through the transfer of their equity interests in these
shall be used for the repayment of the loan provided in accordance with the loan
agreements.
During the terms of the call option agreements, the shareholders will not grant a
similar right or transfer any of the equity interests in these to any party other than the
Company or their respective designee, nor will it pledge, create or permit any security
interest or similar encumbrance to be created on any of the equity interests. The PTPI
shareholders cannot declare any profit distributions or grant loans in any form without
the prior consent of the Company. The PTPI shareholders must remit in full any funds
received from the PTPI shareholders to the Company or their respective designee in
the event any distributions are made by the shareholders.
The call option agreements will remain in effect until the respective PTPI shareholder
has transferred such shareholder’s equity interest in to the Company or their respective
designee.
iii. Powers of attorney
Pursuant to the powers of attorney, each PTPI shareholder has irrevocably appointed
the Company as their attorney-in-fact to act for all matters pertaining to such
shareholding and to exercise all of their rights as shareholders, including but not
limited to attending shareholders’ meetings and designating and appointing directors,
supervisors, the chief executive officer and other senior management members of
these entities, and selling, transferring, pledging or disposing the shares of these
entities. The Company may authorise or assign its rights to any other person or entity at
its sole discretion without prior notice to or prior consent from the PTPI shareholders.
Each power of attorney remains in effect until the PTPI shareholder ceases to hold any
equity interest in PTPI.
iv. Pledge of shares agreements
In order to secure the performance of PTPI and the shareholders under the contractual
arrangements, each of the PTPI shareholders has pledged all of their shares to the
Company and all rights, title, interest and benefit pertaining to the shares, which
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includes dividends and other schemes which are or may become payable. These
pledges secure the contractual obligations and indebtedness of the PTPI shareholders,
including all penalties, damages and expenses incurred by the Company in connection
with the contractual arrangements. Should PTPI or their respective PTPI shareholders
breach or default under any of the contractual arrangements, the Group has the right
to require the transfer of the respective PTPI shareholders’ pledged equity interests
in PTPI to the Company or their respective designee, to the extent permitted by laws,
or require an auction or sale of the pledged equity interests and has priority in any
proceeds from the auction or sale of such pledged interests.
v. Spousal consent letters
Under the spousal consent letters, each spouse of the married PTPI shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably agreed that the equity interest in PTPI held by and
registered in the name of their spouse will be disposed of pursuant to the contractual
arrangements. Each spouse agreed not to assert any rights over the equity interest in
these held by their spouse. In addition, in the event that the spouses obtain any equity
interest in these held by their spouse for any reason, they agreed to be bound by the
contractual arrangements.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of uncertainty of estimation at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed below.
The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about
future developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond
the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Goodwill allocation and impairment
In its business combinations, the Group applies acquisition accounting, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates to allocate the purchase price to the fair market values
of the acquired assets and liabilities, including intangible assets. The business acquisitions
made in 2018 resulted in goodwill.
Goodwill is not amortised, but is subject to annual impairment testing. The carrying amount
of goodwill is disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
For goodwill impairment testing, management determines the recoverable amount of CGU
where goodwill has been allocated based on value-in-use. Value-in-use is computed based
on cash flow projections from formally approved budgets covering a five-year period to
31 December 2024. Accordingly, the recoverable amount is most sensitive to the rate used
in discounting the expected future cash flows, as well as the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
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Post-employment benefit liabilities
Measurement of the Group’s post-employment benefit expense and liabilities are dependent on its selection of certain actuarial assumptions. Those assumptions include, among
others, the discount rate, annual increase in salary rate, annual employee resignation rate,
disability rate, retirement age and mortality rights. Actual results may differ from the assumptions accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies as described in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.
Although the Group believes that the assumptions at the reporting date were reasonable
and appropriate, significant differences in actual results or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the Group’s post-employment benefit expense and liabilities.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
The Group has recognised the deferred tax assets from the fiscal losses and other deductible temporary differences as management determines that sufficient taxable income will
be available against which the fiscal losses and other deductible temporary differences can
be utilised.
Management uses judgment and estimates in assessing the probability of future taxable
income aided by forecasting and budgeting techniques.

4. Business combination
KRYPTONITE KOREA CO., LTD. (“KN”)
On 30 June 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments of KN, a game
software developer company. The total share consideration is USD 75,000.
The fair value of the assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition are as follows:
Fair value recognised at acquisition date

Property and equipment – net

23,865

Other assets

99

Prepayment

25,808

Trade and other receivables

16,925

Cash on hand and in banks
Trade and other payables

18,769
(121,232)

Tax payables

(11,807)

Loan

(47,969)

Post-employment benefit liabilities
Fair value of net assets on acquisition date
Share consideration transferred
Goodwill arising from acquisition

(32,692)
(128,234)
75,000
(203,234)
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In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in KN, the Company issued
1,000,000 ordinary shares at USD 0.075 per share. The fair value of the shares is based on the
Guideline Public Company Method (GCM) at the acquisition date.
Total transaction costs amounting to USD 49,947 related to the acquisition are recognised
as part of “Administrative expenses”
In the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the carrying amount of trade and other receivables at acquisition approximate their fair value. At the
acquisition date, the contractual cash flows pertaining to trade receivables are expected to
be collected.
The goodwill of USD 203,234 comprises the value of the software engineer team in South
Korea with a strong track record that will support the Group’s operations. It also includes the
value of technical support, which has not been recognised separately. Due to the contractual
terms imposed on the acquisition, the technical support is not separable and therefore does
not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
As a result of the acquisition, the Company is expected to have a development capability in
South Korea.
From the date of acquisition and up to the reporting KN has contributed USD 124,942 to
the Group’s loss.

GAMESPARK INTERACTIVE LIMITED (“GP”) AND GLOBIMEDIA NETWORK
PTE. LTD. (“GMN”)
On 30 September 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments of
GP and GMN, a digital platform payment service companies. The total share
consideration is USD 562,500.
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The fair value of the assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition are as follows:
Fair value recognised at acquisition date

Property and equipment – net
Intangible assets – net

3,448
13,624

Other assets

64

Trade and other receivables

501,488

Cash on hand and in banks

351,732

Trade payables
Due to related parties
Accrued expenses
Fair value of net assets on acquisition date

(61,943)
(307,398)
(766)
500,249

Share consideration transferred

562,500

Goodwill arising from acquisition

(62,251)

In connection with the acquisition of 100% equity interest in GP and GMN, the Company
issued 3,750,000 ordinary shares at USD 0.075 per share. The fair value of the shares is based
on the Guideline Company Method (GCM) at the acquisition date.
The consideration settled in shares is contingent on the following conditions:
– Issuance of 1,875,000 shares, if the consolidated combined revenue of PTPI, GMN and
GP exceeds USD 3,500,000 for a period of 6 months ending 30 April 2019.
– Issuance of 1,875,000 shares, if the consolidated combined revenue of PTPI, GMN and
GP exceeds USD 4,300,000 for a period of 6 months ending 31 October 2019.
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables at acquisition approximates their fair
value. At the acquisition date, the contractual cash flows pertaining to trade receivables are
expected to be collected.
The goodwill of USD 62,251 comprises the value of strengthening the Group’s market position
in Hong Kong and Singapore. It also includes the value of a supplier contract, which has not
been recognised separately. Due to the contractual terms imposed on the acquisition, the
supplier contract is not separable and therefore does not meet the criteria for recognition
as an intangible asset.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
As a result of the acquisition, the Company is expected to be able to sign with merchant
partners, build and retain intellectual property and facilitate treasury operations.
From the date of acquisition and up to the reporting date, GP and GMN have contributed
USD 2,388,154 and USD (539,594) to the Group’s revenue and loss, respectively.
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As of 31 December 2019, the Company has not issued ordinary shares to settle the contingent
consideration related to the acquisition of GP and GMN because the consolidated revenue
has not been achieved.

PT PROGRESSIVMEDIA INDONESIA (“PTPI”)
On 22 October 2018, the Company obtained control of PTPI through the following agreements entered with Windiaprana and Patrick Reehan Soegeng (“PTPI shareholders”):
– Loan agreements between the Company and PTPI shareholders dated
27 September 2018.
– Call option agreements between the Company and PTPI shareholders dated
22 October 2018, clause 5.1, signed consent received from PTPI shareholders.
– Power of attorney to sell and vote between the Company and PTPI shareholders dated
22 October 2018.
– Pledge of shares agreement between the Company and PTPI shareholders dated
22 October 2018.
– Spousal consent between the Company and PTPI shareholders’ wives dated
19 October 2018.
The combination of the above agreements has resulted in the consolidation of the accounts
of PTPI according to IFRS 10, as discussed in Note 3.
The fair values of the assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition are as follows:
Fair value recognised at acquisition date

Property and equipment – net
Intangible assets – net
Deferred tax assets – net
Prepaid expenses

13,298
164,842
53,469
1,339

Prepaid tax

331,176

Trade and other receivables

574,457

Cash on hand and in banks

72,349

Trade payables

(1,123,903)

Other payables

(27,672)

Tax payables
Post-employment benefit liabilities
Fair value of net assets on acquisition date
Cash consideration transferred
Goodwill arising from acquisition

(298,923)
(45,112)
(284,680)
1,009,375
(1,294,055)

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables as of acquisition approximates their
fair values.
The goodwill of USD 1,294,055 comprises the value of strengthening the Group’s market position in Indonesia. It also includes value of the payment gateway and merchant list, which has
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not been recognised separately. Due to the contractual terms imposed on the acquisition,
the payment gateway and merchant list is not separable and therefore does not meet the
criteria for recognition as an intangible asset.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
As a result of the acquisition, the Company is expected to be able to receive cash, build an
audience and establish local partnerships in Indonesia.
From the date of acquisition and up to the reporting date, PTPI has contributed
USD 7,203,500 and USD (1,435,820) to the Group’s revenue and loss, respectively.
Total transaction costs amounting to USD 195,000 related to the acquisition of the Mimopay platform (PTPI, GP and GMNI) are recognised as part of “Administrative expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
The following table presents Group revenue and Group profit or loss on a combined basis as
if the acquisitions of GP, GMN, PTPI and KN had occurred on 1 January 2018.
in USD

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

2018

7,483,339
(6,904,318)
579,021

Operating expenses
Marketing and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Research and product development expenses
Other operating expenses – net
Loss from operation
Interest expense
Loss before tax
Income tax benefit (expense)
Loss for the year

(70,823)
(3,328,928)
(401,371)
(12,061)
(3,234,162)
(25,000)
(3,259,162)
74,368
(3,184,794)

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities – net of tax

17,505

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange gain (loss) arising from translation of foreign operations
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year

33,179
50,684
(3,134,110)
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The following table presents Group cash flows on a combined basis as if the acquisitions of
GP, GMN, PTPI and KN had occurred on 1 January 2018.
in USD

2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipt from customers

7,714,359

Cash paid to employees

(864,808)

Cash paid to suppliers and others

(8,559,565)

Net cash used in operating activities

(1,710,014)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment

(2,354)

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries

(1,646,875)

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,649,229)

Cash provided by financing activity
Issuance of share capital

3,225,780

Net increase (decrease) in cash on hand and in banks

(133,463)

Effect of exchange rate changes in cash on hand and in banks

–

Cash on hand and in banks at the beginning of year

315,986

Cash on hand and in banks at the end of year

182,523

5. Revenue
In 2019 and 2018, revenue generated was from payment service businesses through different
payment channels, including Telco vouchers, ATM payments and game cards and vouchers.
These channels are used in paying for certain digital goods and services.
The Group has disaggregated the revenue from contracts with customers into primary geographic markets as follows:
2019
(One year)

2018
(Seven months)

Indonesia

5,940,019

1,263,481

Singapore

405,471

1,486,370

in USD

Hong Kong
Total

121,822

374,491

6,467,312

3,124,342

Contract assets as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 amounted to USD 392,052 and
USD 549,508. These are included within “trade and other receivables” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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6. Administrative expenses
This account consists of:
2019
(One year)

2018
(Seven months)

1,439,872

849,426

Salaries and wages

1,399,451

618,586

Employee share options expense

1,528,319

24,432

in USD

Professional fees

Directors’ remuneration

379,503

–

Corporate fees

330,000

–

Impairment loss on receivables

135,416

–

Travel and transportation

111,614

28,084

54,633

–

Advertisement
Rent

42,144

17,227

Service fees

23,040

87,661

Post-employment benefit expense (Note 19)

11,896

31,516

Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 10 and 11)

11,154

18,093

Commission

–

19,141

340,090

70,353

5,807,132

1,764,519

2019
(One year)

2018
(Seven months)

License costs

140,625

–

Listing fees

Others
Total

7. Other operating expenses – net
This account consists of:

in USD

122,804

1,124,806

Foreign exchange gains /(losses) – net

97,854

29,864

Bank administration

17,855

5,359

(570)

(1,369)

Interest income
Other income

(153,740)

–

–

131,583

224,828

1,290,243

Miscellaneous expenses
Total

Listing fees include underwriters, legal and regulatory and other expenses related to the
Company’s listing on SIX Swiss Exchange.
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8. Taxation
A.

INCOME TAX

The reconciliation between loss before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and estimated fiscal loss of the Company is as follows:
in USD

2019

2018

(6,904,565)

(3,974,800)

Loss before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
Loss before tax of subsidiaries
Consolidation eliminating entries
Loss before tax of the Company
Fiscal correction: non-deductible expenses
Estimated fiscal loss

246,935

864,982

10,008

1,840,013

(6,647,622)

(1,269,805)

135,416

2,900

(6,512,206)

(1,266,905)

2019

2018

(6,512,206)

(1,266,905)

–

–

The consolidated income tax expense (benefit) is determined as follows:
in USD

Estimated fiscal loss
Current income tax expense – Company
Current income tax expense (benefit) – subsidiaries

19,329

(74,368)

Consolidated income tax expense (benefit)

19,329

(74,368)
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B.

DEFERRED TAX

Details of the Group’s deferred tax assets which solely arise from PTPI are as follows:
2019

in USD

Fiscal losses
Post-employment benefit liabilities

Expense to other
comprehensive
income

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

(22,439)

–

4,494

90,567

2,974

(10,903)

430

6,144

Beginning
balance

Benefit (expense)
to profit or loss

108,512
13,643

Impairment loss on receivables

–

1,354

–

11

1,365

Depreciation

–

(1,218)

–

(21)

(1,239)

122,155

(19,329)

(10,903)

4,914

96,837

Expense to other
comprehensive
income

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

Deferred tax assets – net

2018

in USD

Beginning
balance

Benefit (expense)
to profit or loss

Fiscal losses

46,516

66,489

–

(4,493)

108,512

Post-employment benefit liabilities

12,434

7,879

(5,835)

(835)

13,643

Deferred tax assets – net

58,950

74,368

(5,835)

(5,328)

122,155

Management believes that deferred tax assets for PTPI are recoverable against PTPI future
taxable income.
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, deferred tax assets from accumulated fiscal losses
and other deductible temporary differences are not recognised for other subsidiaries as
management believes that no sufficient future taxable profit will be available to utilise the
deferred tax assets.

9. Loss per share
The computation of loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is
as follows:
2019

2018

Loss for the year

(6,923,894)

(3,900,432)

Outstanding weighted average number of shares during the year

83,112,867

47,288,141

(0.08)

(0.08)

in USD

Basic loss per share

As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company does not have any potentially dilutive
ordinary shares.
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The 4,203,646 and 325,760 vested shares options granted to employees as of 31 December
2019 and 2018, respectively, and contingent consideration of 3,750,000 shares from business acquisition of GMN and GP have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are considered anti-dilutive for the calculation of loss per share.

10.

Property and equipment – net

The details and movement of property and equipment are as follows:
2019

in USD

Beginning
balance

Additions
from business
combination

Additions

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

Cost
–

–

1,196

–

1,196

Office equipment

Computer

38,305

–

1,251

(661)

38,895

Sub-total

38,305

–

2,447

(661)

40,091

Accumulated depreciation
Computer

–

–

33

–

33

10,557

–

11,121

(1,543)

20,135

Sub-total

10,557

–

11,154

(1,543)

Net book value

27,748

Office equipment

20,168
19,923

2018

Beginning
balance

Additions
from business
combination

Additions

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

–

40,611

2,355

(4,661)

38,305

Office equipment

–

–

11,916

(1,359)

10,557

Net book value

–

in USD

Cost
Office equipment

Accumulated depreciation

Depreciation expenses in 2019 and 2018 are charged to administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 6).
Management believes that the carrying amount of property and equipment is recoverable
and there are no events or changes in circumstances which may indicate impairment; therefore no provision for impairment of property and equipment was provided.

27,748
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11.

Intangible asset – net

The details and movement of intangible asset are as follows:
2019

in USD

Beginning
balance

Additions
from business
combination

Additions

Deductions

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

29,720

–

–

29,720

–

–

22,283

–

–

22,283

–

Cost
Licences

Accumulated amortisation
Licences
Net book value

7,437

–
–

2018

Beginning
balance

Additions
from business
combination

Additions

Deductions

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

–

178,466

–

148,675

(71)

29,720

Licences

–

–

6,177

–

16,106

22,283

Net book value

–

in USD

Cost
Licences

Accumulated amortisation

The amortisation expense in 2018 was charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Note 6).
In 2019, management disposed of the licence and the related net book value is charged
against licence cost in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

12. Goodwill and impairment
The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The use of
this method requires the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of a discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the cash generating unit (CGU) identified as
under the Mimopay payment platform.

7,437
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The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined from value-in-use calculations
based on cash flow projections from formally approved budgets covering a 5-year period to
31 December 2024. Other major assumptions are as follows:
– Revenues coming from Memorandum of Understanding with PT Huawei Tech (Note 23).
– Gross margin rate and operating expenses based on past performance and its
expectation of market development.
– Discount rate of 4%, based on average long-term investment rate in Switzerland of −1%
and risk premium at 5% based on the internal estimates of the management.
Based on the impairment test conducted, no impairment was recognised in 2019.

13. Prepaid expenses and advances
This account consists of:
2019

2018

101,937

–

56,657

6,317

650,000

650,000

–

140,625

in USD

Advances
Prepayment

Prepaid expenses:
Advertising
Chat application
Accelerators start-ups
Total

8,222

57,556

816,816

854,498

Advances pertain to the amount provided by the Company to Finaplana AG to fund the incorporation of Achiko Switzerland AG.

14. Trade and other receivables
This account consists of:
in USD

Trade receivables

2019

2018

392,052

549,508

Other receivables
Shareholder
Others
Total current trade and other receivables
Other non-current receivable
Total

1,217,771

–

–

30,000

1,609,823

579,508

100,000

–

1,709,823

579,508
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Trade receivables
Trade receivables come from third parties and are non-interest bearing and are generally on
30 to 90-day terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent
their fair values on initial recognition.
The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a
lifetime expected credit loss provision for trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
expected credit losses on a collective basis, trade receivables and contract assets are grouped
based on similar credit risk and aging. The contract assets have similar risk characteristics to
the trade receivables for similar types of contracts.
The expected loss rates are based on the Group’s historical credit losses experienced prior
to the period end. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the Group’s customers.
In 2019, the Group directly wrote off trade receivables amounting to USD 5,416 due to
bankruptcy of the customer.

Other receivables
The shareholder receivable pertains to the balance to be received by the Company for subscription of the Company’s shares.
Other non-current receivable pertains to the amount advanced to PT Empat Kali Indonesia
based on the convertible note agreement entered into on 15 November 2019. Unless converted, the amount is due in 2021.
In 2019, the Group directly wrote off other receivables amounting to USD 130,000 due to
bankruptcy of a third-party Company which the Group has provided advances to.

15.

Cash on hand and in banks

This account consists of:
2019

2018

1,205

2,213

United States Dollar

286,262

102,638

Rupiah

267,798

62,636

in USD

Cash on hand

Cash in banks

Korean Won

28,778

4,218

Singapore Dollar

9,063

3,398

Hongkong Dollar

51

7,420

Sub-total

591,952

180,310

Total

593,157

182,523
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16.

Trade and other payables

This account consists of:
2019

2018

2,223,540

1,848,535

in USD

Trade payables
Other payables
Total

228,331

376,410

2,451,871

2,224,945

Trade and other payables are non interest-bearing amounts due to third-party suppliers
for the goods and services provided to the Group in the ordinary course of business. Trade
payables are normally settled within 60 days, while other payables have an average term
of six months.
The carrying amount of trade and other payables as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 approximates their fair values.

17. Accrued expenses
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, this account includes accruals for salaries, professional
fees and others which are expected to be settled in the next reporting period.

18. Borrowing from third party
On 6 October 2018, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with Jen
Wong, where the latter will provide funding to the Company of USD 1,500,000. The promissory note shall bear interest at the rate of zero percent per annum from the date of the
agreement until 12 December 2018 and interest per month of USD 25,000 and 50,000 of
the Company’s ordinary shares until paid in full.
Total interest expense related to the note amounted to USD 617,500 and USD 25,000 in
2019 and 2018, respectively.
In 2019, the Company settled in full the outstanding amount.
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19. Post-employment benefit liabilities
PTPI, the Company’s subsidiary, provides post-employment defined benefits to its employees in accordance with the minimum requirement under Law No. 13/2003 on “Manpower”
under Indonesian jurisdiction.
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, PTPI accrued post-employment defined benefit liabilities based on the actuarial calculation prepared by management, which uses the “Projected
Unit Credit” method with the following main assumptions:
2019

2018

56 years

55 years

8.10%

8.55%

10.00%

1.00%

2019

2018

in USD

Normal pension age
Discount rate
Salary increase rate

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
in USD

Beginning balance

54,575

49,736

Current service cost

11,896

28,090

Interest cost
Actuarial loss from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gain from experience adjustments

–

3,426

12,253

(23,340)

(55,866)

–

1,717

(3,337)

24,575

54,575

Exchange rate
Ending balance

Details of post-employment benefit expense recognised in consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income are as follows:
2019

2018

11,896

28,090

in USD

Current service cost
Interest cost
Component recognised in profit or loss
Actuarial loss from changes in financial assumptions

–

3,426

11,896

31,516

12,253

(23,340)

Actuarial gain from experience adjustments

(55,866)

–

Component recognised in other comprehensive income

(43,613)

(23,340)

Management has reviewed the assumptions and agrees that these assumptions are adequate. Management believes that the liability recognised is sufficient to cover the Group’s
liability for retirement plan.
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The average duration of the post-employment benefit liability as of 31 December 2019 and
2018 are 26 years and 29.36 years, respectively. The Group expects to contribute approximately USD 24,575 to its defined benefit plan in the subsequent financial year.
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the sensitivity analysis of change in the assumed discount
rate and salary rate (with other variables held constant) would have the following effects:
2019

2018

(4,894)

(1,561)

3,957

1,362

in USD

Discount rate
Increase 1%
Decrease 1%

Salary increase rate
Increase 1%
Decrease 1%

2,666

1,670

(6,014)

(1,470)

20. Share capital and other reserves
SHARE CAPITAL
2019

2018

Number of shares

USD

Number of shares

USD

2

0

2

0

Issued for cash

16,524,257

16,524

6,498,145

6,498

Issued for non-cash

73,107,883

73,108

69,857,883

69,858

Issued ordinary Shares
At the inception date

Subscribed ordinary shares
Total

1,750,000

1,750

–

–

91,382,142

91,382

76,356,030

76,356

The total authorised number of shares of the Company is 500,000,000 shares as of 31 December
2019 and 2018, with a par value of USD 0.001 per share.

SHARE PREMIUM
Details of the share premium are as follows:
in USD

2019

2018

Share premium from issued ordinary shares
Issued for cash

6,804,398

544,675

Issued for non-cash

3,200,874

2,604,749

Share premium from subscribed ordinary shares
Total

1,215,250

–

11,220,522

3,149,424
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary objective of capital management is to ensure that the Company maintains
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholder value.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in line with changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
The Company monitors its capital using the gearing ratio, by dividing net debt by total equity.
The Company’s policy is to maintain a gearing ratio within the range of gearing ratios of the
leading companies in the industry in order to secure funds at a reasonable cost.
Net debt is calculated as total liabilities less cash on hand and in banks. The total capital is
calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. The computation of gearing ratio is as follows:
2019

2018

2,968,299

3,995,585

in USD

Total liabilities

593,157

182,523

Net liabilities

Less cash on hand and in banks

2,375,142

3,813,062

Equity

1,909,511

(625,491)

1.24

(6.10)

Net debt to equity ratio

OTHER RESERVES
i. Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from
the translation of the consolidated financial statements of foreign operations whose
presentation currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.
ii. Employee share option reserve
The employee share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted
to employees. The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of service received from
employees recorded over the vesting period commencing from the grant
date of equity-settled share options and is reduced by the expiry or exercise of
the share options.
The share options granted are pursuant to the Company’s Stock Option Plan adopted
by the Company on 3 August 2018, as amended on 12 July 2019, with a vesting period
ranging between 24−48 months. In addition, vesting period will be accelerated by 6−12
months for certain employees when the Company is listed on any stock exchange.
The Company granted a total of 12,497,500 share options as of 31 December 2019.
Vested share options as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 amounted to 6,678,646 and
1,107,813 shares, respectively.
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These fair values for share options granted during the year were calculated using the
Black-Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Weighted average share price

2019

2018

USD 0.700

USD 0.075

13.93%

33.61%

6.46%

8.11%

Expected volatility
Risk free rate

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns, is based on a statistical analysis of daily share prices.

21. Financial instruments and risk management
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 approximate their fair values due to short-term
maturities of these financial instruments.
The Group uses the following three-level hierarchy for determining and disclosing fair value
of financial instruments by valuation technique:
– Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;
– Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
– Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable.
There were no transfers between levels or changes to the valuation techniques during the
period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group, from its financial instruments, is exposed to certain financial risks such as currency risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The operational activities of the Group are managed
in a prudent manner by managing those risks to minimise potential losses.
i. Currency isk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The Group does business transactions in several currencies and consequently is
exposed to currency risk. The Company does not have a hedging policy for foreign
exchange currency. However, management continuously monitors currency risk and
will consider hedging policies when significant currency risk arises.
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In 2019 and 2018, the reasonably possible change in United States Dollar against foreign
currency was 2.23% and 2.03%, respectively. If United States Dollar had strengthened/
weakened by such a rate, with all other variables held constant, the post-tax profit in 2018
and 2019, would have increased / decreased by USD 38,906 and USD 669,345, respectively.
ii. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial
instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group’s objective is
to seek continual revenue growth while minimizing losses incurred due to increased
credit risk exposure. Therefore, the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties.
Bank accounts are held with financial institutions which are regulated and reputable.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
class of financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which
comprises cash on hand and in banks and all trade and other receivables. The Group
does not hold any collateral as security.
iii. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial
obligations due to a shortage of funds.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches in the
maturities of financial assets and liabilities.
The Group monitors its liquidity needs by closely monitoring scheduled debt servicing
payments for financial liabilities and its cash outflows due to day-to-day operations,
as well as ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities, both committed and uncommitted.
As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maturity profile of Group’s financial liabilities
based on contractual undiscounted payments is less than one year.

22. Notes supporting the statement of cash flows
		
Significant non-cash transactions from financing activities are as follows:
2019

2018

196,875

–

Prepaid expenses

–

2,037,107

Investment in shares

–

637,500

in USD

Issuance of share capital for:
Vested employee share options
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23. Events after the reporting date
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) WITH PT HUAWEI TECH
On 17 March 2020, PTPI entered into an MoU with PT Huawei Tech Investment (Huawei),
where Huawei will help PTPI to access, strengthen and expand its market in Indonesia
through channeling PTPI’s relationship with major telecommunication companies. The MoU
is expected to generate USD 15 million for PTPI and Huawei by the end of 2020.
The contract is valid and effective from the date entered into until 31 December 2020.
Management considered this contract as part of its cash flow projections in assessing the
impairment of the goodwill.

COVID-19 OUTBREAK
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) announced a global health
emergency because of a new strain of coronavirus (the “COVID-19 outbreak”) and the risks
to the international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In
March 2020, the WHO classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid
increase in exposure globally.
The full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As
such, it is uncertain as to the full impact that the pandemic will have on the Group’s financial
condition, liquidity and future results of operations. Management is actively monitoring the
impact of the global situation on its financial condition, liquidity, operations, industry and
workforce. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak and the global responses to
curb its spread, the Group is not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on
its results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity for fiscal year 2020.
The COVID-19 outbreak subsequent to the reporting period has impacted the routine operations of the Group. However, the Group has taken all necessary and controllable actions
to protect the Group’s business from severe impact.
Although the Group cannot estimate the length or gravity of the impact of the COVID-19
outbreak at this time, if the pandemic continues, it may have an immaterial adverse effect
on the Group’s results of future operations, financial position and liquidity in fiscal year 2020.

NEW INDONESIAN TAX REGULATIONS
On 31 March 2020, the President of the Republic of Indonesia established Government Regulations in lieu of Republic of Indonesia Law No. 1 of 2020 concerning State Financial Policies
and Financial System Stability for Handling Pandemic Corona Virus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)
and/or in the Context of Facing Harmful Threats, National Economy and/or Financial System
Stability by making policies in the field of taxation, state expenditure including the area of
regional finance and financing, as well as financial system stability policies. The Government
Regulation in lieu of this Law came into force on 31 March 2020 and several related laws were
declared invalid as long as it relates to state financial policies based on this regulation.
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This new regulation includes, among others, adjustments to income tax rates for domestic
corporate taxpayers and permanent establishments as follows:
– Decrease in Article 17, paragraph 1.b. of the Law on 22% Income Tax that applies in
fiscal years 2020 and 2021, and 20% applicable in tax year 2020.
– Domestic taxpayers (publicly-listed companies with a total number of paid-up
shares traded on the Indonesian Stock Exchange at least 40% and meeting certain
requirements) can obtain tariffs of 3% lower or 19% in tax years 2020 and 2021, and
17% in tax year 2020. Further provisions regarding certain conditions are regulated by
or based on the Government Regulations.
As of the issuance of the consolidated financial statements, the management is still evaluating the impact of this new regulation.

24. Authorisation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company, who are responsible for the preparation and completion of the consolidated financial statements, on 28 April 2020.
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Note on possible future-oriented statements
This report contains statements that constitute forward-looking
statements. In addition, in the future, Achiko Ltd., and others on Achiko
Ltd.’s behalf, may make statements that constitute forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements may include, but are not
limited to, statements relating to the following:
– plans, targets or goals;
– future economic performance or prospects;
– the potential effect on future performance of certain contingencies; and
– assumptions underlying any such statements.
Words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends” and “plans” and
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements
but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Achiko Ltd.
does not intend to update these forward-looking statements.
By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and
uncertainties, both general and specific, and risks exist that predictions,
forecasts, projections and other outcomes described or implied in
forward-looking statements will not be achieved. Achiko Ltd. cautions the
reader that a number of important factors could cause results to differ
materially from the plans, targets, goals, expectations, estimates and
intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements.

